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Application Form

Applicant Information and Request Amount
Project Name* 
Legal name of Applicant/Organization

Rockville Housing Enterprises

Federal I.D. Number* 
526015084

Type of Organization* 
Nonprofit

501(c)(3) Status 
If you are a nonprofit organization, upload an Internal Revenue Service letter granting non-profit status 501(c)(3).

04 RHE 501c3 status - clean.pdf

Address* 
1300 Piccard Drive, Suite 202, Rockville, MD 20850

Contact Person* 
Provide a name and job title.

James Hedrick

Contact Person - Telephone Number* 
301-424-6265 x116

Contact Person - E-mail* 
jhedrick@rockvillehe.org
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Project Title* 
Executive Director

Amount of CDBG Funds Requested* 
$270,825.00

Amount of Total Project Budget* 
$270,825.00

Would you like to collaborate on this application with another person? If yes, follow the instructions below.

Once you have started a request you will see the Collaborate button at the top of the page. This can be used to 
invite other people to work on this request. 

• From the Collaborate pop up, enter the email address of the person you would like to invite,

• Set the Permission you would like the collaborator to have, either View, Edit, or Submit.

• And lastly, include a message and select Invite.

An email will be sent to the collaborator containing your message, their username, and a link to the logon page. 

After logging into the system, the collaborator will see this request under the Collaboration Requests tab of their 
Applicant Dashboard. Here they can select the edit form link and start collaborating on the document. The 
Collaborator will have access to all forms within the request that have been assigned to the original applicant.

Project Description and Need
Project Description* 
Provide a brief summary of your project. Describe: WHAT you will do, WHO you will serve, WHY the project is 
needed, WHERE you will do it, and WHAT activities you will fund with CDBG. (NOTE: More information is requested 
later; this space is for a brief overview of your project.)
We are seeking funding to support the replacement of 17 roofs and the complete gutter systems throughout 
the David Scull Public Housing community. This property includes 68 townhomes and one apartment 
building containing eight units, collectively serving 76 households.

The goal of this project is to provide modern, durable roofing and gutter systems to ensure long-term 
protection for residents. Many of the existing roofs and gutters are outdated and have begun to deteriorate, 
leading to increased risk of leaks and water damage. Upgrading these systems will enhance the structural 
integrity of the homes and improve the overall quality of life for residents.

If funding is approved, we will move forward with a full replacement of all identified roofing and gutter 
systems across the community. This investment will help safeguard the homes of low-income families and 
preserve a critical affordable housing resource for years to come.
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Project Need* 
What unmet need(s) will your project address? How did you determine that this need exists?  You must provide 
data that quantifies the need to receive full points for Need in the scoring criteria (e.g., number of units, physical 
needs assessment data, photographs).

The proposed project will address critical unmet capital improvement needs at the David Scull Public 
Housing community, specifically the replacement of 17 aging roofs and the gutter systems across 76 housing 
units (68 townhomes and one 8-unit apartment building). These systems have surpassed their expected 
useful life and are now contributing to ongoing issues such as roof leaks, water intrusion, and structural 
deterioration.

Quantified Need:

Total Units Impacted: 76 households

Roof Replacements Needed: 17 individual roofs

Gutter Replacements Needed: 100% of gutters on 76 units (both townhomes and apartment building)

Age of Existing Roofs: Ranging from 20 to 30+ years old

Recommended Roof Lifespan: 15–20 years for asphalt shingle roofing (HUD Physical Needs Assessment 
Guidelines)

Maintenance Records: Over the past 12 months, maintenance logs show 15 separate work orders related to 
roof leaks and water damage caused by gutter overflows or failure

Resident Impact: Reports of ongoing water intrusion in 12 units during seasonal rains, confirmed by site 
inspections

Assessment of Need:

A recent Physical Needs Assessment (PNA) conducted in Q2 of 2025 identified the roofs and gutter systems as 
Priority 1 (Critical Repairs), noting significant wear and vulnerability to future damage. The report cited 
multiple areas of shingle loss, soft spots due to water saturation, and clogged or detached gutters. These 
conditions contribute to:

Interior water damage and mold risks

Increased maintenance costs

Health and safety concerns for residents

Photographic evidence and inspection summaries from the PNA further support the urgent need for 
replacement. (These documents can be provided upon request or attached as part of the application packet.)

Without intervention, continued roof and gutter deterioration will lead to higher long-term repair costs and 
potential displacement of families due to uninhabitable conditions.
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Project Need Attachments 
Please compile attachments (including photos) into one pdf, doc or docx file. If the attachments exceed the 
maximum file size, send them to Chuck Dunn, cdunn@rockvillemd.gov.

Location of Project* 
Where will this project be physically located? For projects, provide the address of the project; for programs, state 
the location from which the program will be operated. Project activities should take place within the corporate 
limits of the City of Rockville.
David Scull Public Housing, 1202 - 1327 First Street, Rockville, MD 20850

Photos of the project will be sent to Chuck Dunn via email.

Location of Project - Historic District* 
Will this project be located in one of Rockville's Historic Districts? View the map of Rockville Historic Districts.

No

Service Area* 
Is there a primary service area(s) for this project?

Yes

Service Area - Description 
If you selected “yes” to the previous question, briefly describe the boundaries of the service area (e.g. by streets, 
neighborhoods, or census tracts). Answering “no” signifies that services are provided citywide without regard to 
location.

David Scull Public Housing, 1202 - 1327 First Street, Rockville, MD 20850
The property is located south and west of East Gude Drive, north and west of David Scull Park. It is also 
located east of Lofstrand Ln and north of Taft St., behind the light industrial areas that front those two roads. 
A Google Map link here shows the site location and the Community Center: 
https://maps.app.goo.gl/u1XGSMyCq1xEwCR27

Service Area - Outside City of Rockville 
If some people served come from outside the City of Rockville, please provide a breakdown of Rockville residents 
versus non-Rockville residents.

N/A

Number Served* 
Estimate the total number of people or households who will directly benefit from this project.

https://www.rockvillemd.gov/2177/Historic-Districts
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76

Number LMI Served* 
Estimate the total number of low- and moderate-income people or households who will directly benefit from this 
project. See pg. 4 of the APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS for the definition of “low- and moderate-income (“LMI”).” 

76

Percentage LMI Served* 
What percentage of the total people or households served are expected to be of low- and moderate-income. See 
pg. 4 of the APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS for the definition of “low- and moderate-income (“LMI”).”
100

Identify the source of your estimates* 
Estimates provided by Golden America Builders LLC.

Recruitment/Referral Process* 
Describe how beneficiaries will be recruited or referred to the project or program.

The proposed project will benefit existing residents of the David Scull Public Housing community, which is 
owned and operated by the local Public Housing Authority (PHA). As such, no additional recruitment or 
referral process is necessary for identifying project beneficiaries.

Automatic Inclusion: All 76 currently occupied units (68 townhomes and one 8-unit apartment building) are 
already home to low- to moderate-income (LMI) households, as defined by HUD. These households will 
automatically benefit from the roofing and gutter improvements as current tenants of the property. All 
households undergo income verification at move-in and annual recertification to ensure compliance with 
HUD’s LMI requirements.
Residents will be notified in advance of construction schedules.
Since this is a capital improvement project targeting an existing public housing community, the beneficiaries 
are predetermined, and the PHA’s intake and leasing procedures ensure continued service to LMI households 
only.

Eligibility Process* 
Describe how you will determine eligibility for the program and document that at least 70 percent of the housing 
units are occupied by LMI households or that 70 percent of the program’s beneficiaries have low- or moderate-
incomes, as defined by HUD.

The David Scull Public Housing community is operated under a public housing program, which means that 
100% of the residents meet HUD’s definition of Low- or Moderate-Income (LMI) households. Public housing 
eligibility is based on income limits set annually by HUD, and all applicants must fall below those limits to 
qualify for tenancy.

https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/41784/CDBG-FY23-Yr48-Application-Instructions_FINAL
https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/41784/CDBG-FY23-Yr48-Application-Instructions_FINAL
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Ongoing Compliance: Resident incomes are recertified annually in accordance with HUD regulations to 
ensure continued eligibility.
Documentation: Income verification includes third-party documentation (e.g., pay stubs, Social Security 
statements, tax returns) and is stored securely in tenant files, available for audit or review.

HUD Form 50058 data submitted for each household

In summary, this project will exclusively benefit LMI households, with well-documented eligibility and 
compliance processes already in place as part of public housing operations. This ensures that the project 
meets or exceeds HUD’s threshold for LMI benefit.

Project Goals* 
List the specific goals that you hope to achieve through this project; goals should be quantitative and measurable 
in nature. The activity should have clearly stated goals and evaluation criteria that are specific, measurable, and 
realistic.
Replace 17 Roofs Across the Community

Goal: Complete full roof replacement on 17 buildings by the end of the project timeline.

Measurement: Pre- and post-construction inspections; contractor reports confirming completion.

Target Date: Within 12 months of project start.

Success Criteria: 100% of the 17 roofs replaced and passing final inspection.

Install New Gutter Systems on 76 Housing Units

Goal: Replace all gutters on 68 townhomes and one 8-unit apartment building.

Measurement: Contractor completion reports, photographic documentation, and final inspections.

Target Date: Within 12 months of project start.

Success Criteria: All 76 units equipped with fully functional gutter systems.

Reduce the Number of Roof- and Gutter-Related Work Orders by 90% Within 6 Months of Project Completion

Goal: Significantly reduce maintenance issues related to leaks and water damage.

Measurement: Comparison of maintenance work order logs from 6 months pre-project and 6 months post-
project.

Baseline: 27 work orders for roof/gutter-related issues in the past 24 months.

Success Criteria: Fewer than 3 new roof/gutter-related work orders in the 6 months following project 
completion.

Improve Resident Satisfaction Related to Unit Condition by 25%

Goal: Increase resident satisfaction with housing quality, particularly related to roofing and leaks.

Measurement: Pre- and post-project resident surveys focusing on unit condition.
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Baseline: (To be determined through pre-project survey)

Success Criteria: At least a 25% increase in satisfaction scores on survey questions related to leaks, roofing, 
and water damage.

Ensure 100% of Project Beneficiaries Are Low- to Moderate-Income (LMI) Households

Goal: Maintain compliance with HUD’s LMI benefit requirement.

Measurement: Occupancy records and income certifications as verified through HUD Form 50058 and annual 
reporting.

Success Criteria: All 76 households are LMI-qualified per HUD standards throughout the project duration.

Action Plan
Quarterly Schedule: Any CDBG funds awarded should be fully expended within a 12-month period. The activity 
should have a clear plan of action that is consistent with the budget and that demonstrates that the applicant has 
the capacity to implement the proposed plan. 

Describe the implementation plan for the project by listing a quarterly schedule of key activities / milestones and 
the corresponding draw down of CDBG funds in the following questions:

First Quarter - Key Activities* 
List key tasks and milestones during the quarter. Write N/A, if no activities are planning during the quarter.

Q1 – Planning & Pre-Construction: Finalize scope, budget, and funding; issue and review RFPs; select 
contractors; complete site inspections and obtain permits. Conduct planning meetings and inform residents 
of the project timeline. Deliverables include executed contracts, an approved construction schedule, and a 
resident communication plan.

Second Quarter - Key Activities* 
List key tasks and milestones during the quarter. Write N/A, if no activities are planning during the quarter.

Q2 –  Begin phased roof and gutter replacements (approx. 30% of units). Mobilize crews, perform quality 
control inspections, and maintain communication with staff and residents. Address any unforeseen issues. 
Deliverables include completion of Phase I and related inspection reports and punch lists.

Third Quarter - Key Activities* 
List key tasks and milestones during the quarter. Write N/A, if no activities are planning during the quarter.

Q3 – Phase II Construction 

Objectives:
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Continue and complete the second phase of roof and gutter replacements

Key Activities:

Replace roofs and gutters on next set of buildings (another 30–35%)

Continue quality assurance and contractor oversight

Provide mid-project progress update to leadership and funders

Continue coordination with residents and property staff

Deliverables:

Completion of Phase II
Updated project status reports
Mid-project budget and schedule review

Fourth Quarter - Key Activities* 
List key tasks and milestones during the quarter. Write N/A, if no activities are planning during the quarter.

Q4 –  Complete final construction (35–40%), conduct inspections, resolve punch list items, and collect 
resident feedback. Submit final reports, process payments, and close out the project. Deliverables include 
completion certificate, compliance reports, satisfaction summary, and close-out report. Oversight by Asset 
Manager (50%) and Maintenance Supervisor (40%) with ongoing progress reports to leadership.

First Quarter - $ Draw Down* 
Estimate the draw down of CDBG funds in the quarter.

$67,706.25

Second Quarter - $ Draw Down* 
Estimate the draw down of CDBG funds in the quarter.

$67,706.25

Third Quarter - $ Draw Down* 
Estimate the draw down of CDBG funds in the quarter.

$67,706.25

Fourth Quarter - $ Draw Down* 
Estimate the draw down of CDBG funds in the quarter.

$67,706.25
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Budget and Leveraging
Project Budget Form* 
1. Download the Budget Form (doc file).
2. Fill out the budget form and save it. Instructions are provided on page 1 of the packet.
3. Upload the completed form using the "upload a file" button below.

CDBG Application Budget_David Scull Roofs and Gutters.doc

Expenditure Details* 
Describe in detail types of expenditures CDBG will fund (i.e., labor, materials, etc.).  

CDBG funds will be used exclusively for eligible hard costs associated with the capital improvement project at 
David Scull Public Housing. This includes the removal and replacement of aging and deteriorated roofing 
systems and gutters across all applicable residential buildings. The scope of expenditures includes:

Procurement of materials (roofing shingles, underlayment, gutters, downspouts, flashing, etc.)

Contractor labor for demolition, installation, and site clean-up

Safety measures and compliance-related work (e.g., scaffolding, fall protection, site containment)

Permitting and inspections required by local authorities

Quality assurance testing and final inspections

These expenditures are necessary to preserve safe, decent, and sanitary housing for low-income residents 
and align directly with CDBG program goals related to the rehabilitation of affordable housing and the 
prevention of further deterioration of public housing infrastructure

Cost Estimate Details* 
How did you determine the cost estimates included in the CDBG Project Budget Form?  

The estimated costs were provided by a vendor, Golden America Builders LLC. We have worked with this 
builder at this site previously and have confidence in their estimates.

Cost Estimate Details - Attachments 
Upload any supporting documents for your cost estimates (including bids, research or past documentation for 
previous projects).

Golden Buildings America - CDBGCoRFY2027_CombRoof-GutterEstimate.pdf

https://www.rockvillemd.gov/DocumentCenter/View/41783/CDBG-FY23-Yr48-Application-Budget


James Hedrick Rockville Housing Enterprises

Printed On: 31 October 2025 FY27 Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) 11

Davis-Bacon Labor Standards and Wages* 
If you propose construction, rehabilitation, or acquisition activities, are the construction estimates incorporated 
into the project budget inclusive Davis-Bacon Labor Standards and Wages?

Yes

Site Ownership* 
If you propose construction, rehabilitation, or acquisition activities, does your organization own the property or 
site?

Yes

Site Ownership or Lease Agreement 
Evidence of site control.

• If yes to the previous question, provide evidence of ownership (deed and property tax records).

• If no to the previous question, provide a copy of the lease agreement and letter from the owner 
confirming the proposed activities are permitted and acceptable.

Land Use/Zoning* 
If you propose construction, rehabilitation, or acquisition activities, does the project require a land use and/or 
zoning change?

No

Land Use/Zoning - Details 
If yes to the previous question, explain below.

Partial Funding* 
In the past, the City has often provided partial funding for multiple projects instead of full funding for a few 
projects so that it could address numerous requests. Please describe, in detail, the specific changes that you will 
make to your project or scope of services if your project is partially funded.

If RHE is unable to receive all funding requested, the most likely changes will be a delay in completion of the 
project - to identify other potential funding sources to cover the proposed project (e.g., a state bond bill) - or a 
reduction in the number of roof repairs completed, with the reduction based on the amount provided.

Prior CDBG Funding* 
List any prior CDBG grants received for this project and include the following information:

• Source (Montgomery County or the City of Rockville)

• Year of the grant

• Grant amount

• Description of the activities funded
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If your project has not received any CDBG funding, write in N/A.

RHE has been the recipient of several Community Development Block Grants (CDBG) to support critical 
capital improvement projects:

In Program Year 49, the City of Rockville awarded RHE a CDBG grant in the amount of $72,000 for the 
replacement of HVAC systems at the David Scull community.

In Fiscal Year 2027, Montgomery County awarded a CDBG grant totaling $728,000 for multiple 
improvements, including the replacement of siding on all residential units (including the senior building), the 
replacement of the playground, repaving and striping of all parking lots, and the replacement of the 
community center roof.

In Fiscal Year 2023, the City of Rockville awarded a CDBG grant in the amount of $105,525.12 for the 
replacement of the water submetering system.

Below is a list of all CDBG grants received from the City of Rockville since 2012:
City of Rockville 2012 $93,410 Rehabilitation of Kitchens and Baths
City of Rockville 2013 $52,464 Rehabilitation of Kitchens and Baths
City ofRockville 2014 $43,197 Rehabilitation of Kitchens and Baths
City of Rockville 2015 $15,000 Basement/Foundation Repairs and HVAC Installation
City of Rockville 2016 $55,000 Smoke/CO2 Detector Installation
City of Rockville 2017 $50,000 Smoke/CO2 Detector Installation
City of Rockville 2018 $60,000 Hot Water Heater Replacement
City of Rockville 2019 $140,200 Roof Replacements
City of Rockville 2020 $37,200 Roof Replacements
City of Rockville 2021 $60,000 Roof Replacements
City of Rockville 2022 $105,000 Submeters
City of Rockville 2023 $72,000 HVAC replacements

These grant-funded projects are essential in helping RHE maintain safe, efficient, and high-quality affordable 
housing for the residents of Rockville.

Leveraging* 
Have you applied for funding from other sources for this project?

No

Leveraging Details* 
• If yes to the previous question, to what entities have you applied? Indicate whether the funding is 

approved, pending or denied.

• If no to the previous question, why haven’t you applied for other funding?

CBDG has been an appropriate and reliable source of funding for RHE infrastructure updates in the past and 
is the most appropriate funding source for this project. It is a funding source and a funder (both HUD and the 
City of Rockville) that we are familiar with and confident in using for such large-scale repair work. 
Additionally, CDBG funds have an appropriate funding scale to allow us to complete many roof repairs as part 
of a single project, as opposed to using multiple funding sources for several smaller projects to repair the 
same overall number of units. This allows us to concentrate our administrative and oversight efforts, 
increasing our efficiency.
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Leveraged Funds #1 
For approved funds, provide a copy of each commitment or award letter.

Leveraged Funds #2 
For approved funds, provide a copy of each commitment or award letter.

Leveraged Funds #3 
For approved funds, provide a copy of each commitment or award letter.

Volunteer or In-kind Contributions 
If you will use volunteers or in-kind contributions for this project, please explain how:

N/A

Long-term Sustainability* 
Explain, in detail, your long-term sustainability plan for this project. If you are proposing rehabilitation or 
construction activities, describe your long-term operation and maintenance plans for the project, including your 
plan to keep the housing affordable for LMI households (i.e., source of subsidy). If you are proposing a program, 
describe your plan for operating this program once CDBG funds are no longer available.

Rockville Housing Enterprises (RHE) is committed to the long-term preservation of its public housing 
portfolio, including the improvements funded through this CDBG project. Following the roof and gutter 
replacements at David Scull Public Housing, RHE will implement a comprehensive operation and 
maintenance plan to protect this investment and ensure continued building integrity.

RHE will conduct quarterly inspections of the property to monitor the condition of the new roofs and gutters. 
Any issues identified during these inspections will be promptly addressed to prevent deterioration and 
minimize future repair costs. Maintenance activities will be documented and tracked using RHE’s internal 
work order system, and reviewed by the Asset Management and Maintenance teams.

In addition to regular inspections, RHE uses a Capital Needs Assessment (CNA) and maintains Annual and 
Five-Year Capital Improvement Plans to guide long-term property investments. These plans ensure that 
capital needs are identified early and that funding is allocated efficiently to preserve the quality and safety of 
the housing stock.

To maintain long-term affordability for low- and moderate-income (LMI) households, RHE will continue 
operating the property under HUD’s Public Housing and Project-Based Voucher (PBV) programs. These 
federal subsidies allow RHE to keep rents affordable and ensure compliance with HUD income eligibility 
requirements. The public housing designation also provides long-term affordability protections through 
regulatory oversight.

This approach—combining proactive maintenance, long-term capital planning, and continued federal 
subsidy—ensures the sustainability of the improvements and protects affordable housing access for current 
and future residents.
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Key Staff and Partnerships
Key Staff Instructions: Provide the name and list of information below for each key staff person who is responsible 
for carrying out your program's CDBG action plan.

Name - Key Staff #1* 
Karshia Farrow-Butler

Project Role - Key Staff #1* 
List the following information about the staff member:

• Number of years with the organization

• Percentage of time to be devoted to the project

• Job responsibilities/experience relevant to proposed project

Karshia Farrow-Butler has been a valued member of the RHE staff for one year and will serve as the primary 
point of contact. As Asset Manager, she is responsible for overseeing both the financial and physical 
components of capital improvement projects. Ms. Farrow-Butler has successfully managed the 
comprehensive renovation of multiple properties, including upgrades to lobbies, hallways, roof decks, and 
residential unit interiors. She will dedicate approximately 50% of her time to this project.

Name - Key Staff #2 
Jaime Bravo

Project Role - Key Staff #2 
List the following information about the staff member:

• Number of years with the organization

• Percentage of time to be devoted to the project

• Job responsibilities/experience relevant to proposed project

Jaime Bravo has been a dedicated member of the RHE team for 13 years as the Maintenance Supervisor. He 
has been a key point of contact for all capital improvement projects across RHE properties and brings an 
extensive background in maintenance operations. Mr. Bravo’s deep knowledge of the property and hands-on 
experience make him an essential asset to the successful implementation of this project. He will be dedicating 
approximately 40% of his time to supporting and overseeing this initiative.

Name - Key Staff #3 
James Hedrick
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Project Role - Key Staff #3 
List the following information about the staff member:

• Number of years with the organization

• Percentage of time to be devoted to the project

• Job responsibilities/experience relevant to proposed project

Less than 1 year as Executive Director, 7 years as a member and then Chair of the RHE Board of 
Commissioners (2017 - 2024).
10%
As Executive Director, Dr. Hedrick will provide oversight over contracting, inspections, payments to 
contractors, and other matters related to completing the repairs.

Additional Staff 
Provide a list of additional staff and their role for this project.

[Unanswered]

Partnerships* 
Will you enter into a partnership with any other organization(s) to undertake this project?    

No

Partnership Details 
If “yes,” please list the organization(s) and its contribution(s).

Experience and Organizational Capacity
Organization's Mission* 
Describe your organization’s mission and how the proposed project fits in with your organization’s mission and 
current activities.

Rockville Housing Enterprises (RHE) is committed to its mission of being an effective and innovative agency 
dedicated to providing opportunities for self-sufficiency and the creation and preservation of quality, 
affordable housing for the citizens of the City of Rockville. The comprehensive replacement of roofs across 
RHE-managed properties directly supports this mission by ensuring the long-term preservation and 
structural integrity of our affordable housing units. By investing in critical infrastructure improvements, RHE 
not only enhances the safety, comfort, and energy efficiency of its housing stock but also reinforces its 
commitment to providing stable, high-quality living environments for low and moderate-income individuals 
and families. This project is an essential step in maintaining the dignity and sustainability of affordable 
housing in our community.
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Organization's Founding Date* 
List the date or year your organization was established.

1955

Number of Full-time Staff* 
Number of full-time paid staff in your organization.

21

Number of Part-time Staff* 
Number of part-time paid staff in your organization.

4

Organizational Chart* 
Provide a copy of your current Organizational Chart.

Copy of RHE Org Chart - 03-24-25.xlsx

New Staff* 
Will a consultant(s) or contract staff be hired to help implement the project?

No

Number of NEW Full-time Staff* 
Number of new staff who will be hired to work on the project, if funded.

0

Number of NEW Part-time Staff* 
Number of new staff who will be hired to work on the project, if funded.

0

New Staff - Details 
If “yes,” please explain the services the consultant or contract staff will offer (NOTE: If the project is funded, any 
subcontracts entered into are subject to approval by the City of Rockville Department of Housing and Community 
Development):
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County or City Funding* 
Do you currently receive, or are you applying for funding through other County or City agencies?

Yes

County or City Funding - Details 
If “yes,” provide information on the activity, the amount, and what agency:

Montgomery County (DCHA): At David Scull Public Housing, planned improvements include the replacement 
of siding on all townhomes as well as the senior building, the replacement of the community center roof, the 
renovation of the playground, and the repaving and striping of all parking lots. The total amount provided is 
$728,000.00.

CDBG (City of Rockville): At David Scull Public Housing, the replacement of HVAC systems—including both 
interior and exterior units—is budgeted at $94,000.00.

Organization Budget* 
Attach a copy of your organization’s annual budget for the current year.

Combined budget - FY26V1.xlsx

Organization Audit* 
Attach a copy of the organization’s most recent audit.

01 RHE Audit 2024 - FINAL.pdf

Past Performance* 
Have you received CDBG funds for a project of similar activities, size, and complexity in the past? (If no, skip next 3 
questions)

Yes

Past Performance - Project Description 
If yes to the "past performance" question, which project(s) and what year(s)?

City of Rockville 2019 $140,200 Roof Replacements. City of Rockville 2020 $37,200 Roof Replacements. City 
of Rockville 2021 $60,000 Roof Replacements.

Past Performance - Project Time 
If yes to the "past performance" question, did you expend CDBG funds in a timely manner?

Yes
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Past Performance - Project Goals 
If yes to the "past performance" question, did you meet performance goals for the project?

Yes

Past Performance - Non-CDBG Projects 
If No to the "past performance" question, describe a past project of similar activities, size, and complexity where 
your organization used local, state, or Federal funding. Describe whether you met expenditure deadlines, 
performance measures, and compliance requirements, such as Davis Bacon or Section 3.

N/A

Application Certification and Signature
Application Certification* 
"I certify that I have reviewed this application and that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, all of the 
information provided in this application is true."

In lieu of a signature, provide the name and title of an authorized representative.

James Hedrick, Interim Executive Director
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File Attachment Summary
Applicant File Uploads
•   04 RHE 501c3 status - clean.pdf
•   CDBG Application Budget_David Scull Roofs and Gutters.doc
•   Golden Buildings America - CDBGCoRFY2027_CombRoof-GutterEstimate.pdf
•   Copy of RHE Org Chart - 03-24-25.xlsx
•   Combined budget - FY26V1.xlsx
•   01 RHE Audit 2024 - FINAL.pdf
 





CDBG Project Budget Form

ORGANIZATION NAME: Rockville Housing Enterprises

PROJECT NAME: David Scull Public Housing, Roof and Gutter Replacment

INSTRUCTIONS

Provide the total budget of the proposed CDBG project, subdivided by activity costs.

Request only the level of CDBG funding needed to carry out the project. The grant request 
must be sufficient either by itself or included with other proposed funding sources to assure 
effective administration and completion of the proposed project within the contract period.

List the allocation of CDBG funds among project costs in the Source 1 column and the 
allocation of other funding sources (as well as the name and amount of the source) in the 
other columns.

Only complete budget line items that apply to your project. Add additional rows, if needed. 
If your project has more than four sources, use a second sheet budget sheet.



CDBG Project Budget Form
Sources

Source 1 Source 2 Source 3 Source 4
Name of Source CDBG                
Is the source firmly 
committed? If yes, must 
provide award or 
commitment letter 

X
Yes   No Yes   No Yes   No

Totals

Amount                          

Uses

Personnel Source 1: 
CDBG

Source 2:
     

Source 3:
     

Source 4:
     

Total

[List job title and 
salary]

No positions 
funded by 
CDBG.

                    

[List job title and 
salary]                          

[List job title and 
salary – add more 
lines if needed]

                         

Fringe Benefits                          
Personnel Total                          
Construction/ 
Rehabilitation

Source 1: 
CDBG

Source 2:
     

Source 3:
     

Source 4:
     

Total

Acquisition                          
Architectural, Planning, 
and Engineering                          

Fees (permits, etc.)                          
Professional Services $270,825.00                $270,825.0

0
Construction/rehab                          
Demolition                          
Other                          
Other                          
Other                          
Construction/ Rehab 
Total $270,825.00                $270,825.0

0



Program Operating 
Costs

Source 1: 
CDBG

Source 2:
     

Source 3:
     

Source 4:
     

Total

Supplies                          
Rent/Lease                          
Insurance                          
Printing                          
Communications 
(Telephone, internet, 
etc.)

                         

Travel                          
Other                          
Other                          
Prog. Operating Total                          

Project Total $270,825.00                $270,825.0
0
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Services 
The Client engages the Contractor, a registered business specializing in commercial/Residential property 
maintenance, repair, and construction, to render Gutter service ("Services") for the Client's Residential properties 
located at [First St, Rockville MD, 20850] (“Properties”) which has multiple Gutter issues that require immediate 
entire replacement. 

 
The Contractor accepts the engagement and agrees to perform the following Services in  
a timely and professional manner for the following Units:  
 
 
First St, Rockville MD, 20850 
 

• 1216 – 1218  
• 1220 – 1222 
• 1224 – 1226 
• 1228 – 1230  
• 1232 – 1234  
• 1236 – 1238  
• 1240 – 1242  
• 1244 – 1246  
• 1248 – 1250  
• 1252 – 1254 
• 1256 – 1258  
• 1260 – 1262 
• 1264 – 1266  
• 1268 – 1270  
• 1272 – 1274  
• 1276 – 1278  
• 1280 – 1282  
• 1284 – 1286  
• 1288 – 1290  
• 1292 – 1294  
• 1296 – 1298  
• 1300 – 1302  
• 1304 – 1306  
• 1308 – 1310  
• 1312 – 1314 

• 1316 – 1318  
• 1320 – 1322  
• 1301 – 1303  
• 1305 – 1307  
• 1309 – 1311  
• 1313 – 1315   
• 1317 – 1319  
• 1321 – 1323  
• 1325 – 1327 

Senior Building  
 

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO Jaime Bravo – Management supervisor  DATE 10/02/2025 
Phone (240) 401 8452 Email jbravo@rockvillehe.org  

 

Address 1300 Piccard Dr Suite #203 City/County   Rockville State MD 
Zip Code 20850 

mailto:jbravo@rockvillehe.org
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Seamless Gutters Work Installation 
 

• Remove all the existing Gutters 3,784 LF 

• Remove all the existing Downspouts 2 x 3 inches wide 2,900 LF 

• Install all new Large square Seamless Gutters 6 inches wide 0.32-gauge thickness 3,784 LF 

• Install all new Large square Downspouts 3 x 4 inches wide 2,900 LF 

• Use Our Top-of-the-Line Hidden Hanger 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

After the Job is Completed, we will Provide: 

• 10 YRS Labor Workmanship by Golden America Builders LLC. 

• Certificate of completion. 

• Final Invoice. 

• Haul away all resulting trash and debris. 
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Terms and Conditions 
 

• TERM. 
This Contract shall be effective for [One (2)] Months, starting on [October 2nd, 2024], and terminating on     

[December 2nd, 2024]. However, as the time for performance of the Contractor is bound to uncontrollable conditions, 

the Client shall provide an allowance on the estimated completion date of the Services. The given allowance shall be 

discussed whenever necessary. 
 

• QUALITY OF WORK.  
The Contractor shall perform all the Services in a professional and conscientious manner, ensuring that it is 

employing the applicable industry methods, safety measures, standards, and processes throughout the roofing 

project. 
 

• PAYMENT TERMS.  
The Client agrees to pay per projects sections. Client agrees to pay by weekly. The amount of job performed in a week 

that is the responsibility of client to perform the payment.  
 

• WARRANTIES.  

The Contractor warrants that it can perform the specified Services according to the industry standards. Similarly, the 

Client guarantees that it will not abuse or encroach the rights of the Contractor during the course of this Contract.  
 

• DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  
In the event of disputes, the Parties agree to settle the issues amicably through meetings and compromise. However, 

if the dispute continues, the Parties shall ask a third party to mediate the dispute in a fair and equitable position.  
 

• SEVERABILITY. 
Any invalidity or unenforceability, in whole or in part, of any term or condition in this Contract, shall not affect the 

validity of the other provisions and agreements created by Parties.  
 

• GOVERNING LAW.  

This Contract shall be governed by and construed under the applicable laws of the State of Maryland where the 

Property is located. 
 
 

Signature 
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Payments     
Please make your check payable to Golden America Builders LLC 
We propose hereby to furnish material and labor complete in accordance with above specification, for the sum 
of Dollars $83,625.00 
 
                                      Roof Replacement Cost → $83,625.00 
                                                 
  

Acceptance of Proposal - The above price, specification Authorized 

And conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted.    

 
Client Signature _____________________________________ Date_____________ 
You are authorized to do the work as specified.       

 

Estimator Signature                                                                                           Date  

 
  

Balance $_____________ Date_____________ Signature ________________________ Signature ___________________________ 
                                                                                                                              Customer                                                                        Contractor 

 

Balance $_____________ Date_____________ Signature ________________________ Signature ___________________________ 
                                            Customer                                                                       Contractor 
 
Paid in full $______________________                Work Complete Date ____________________________ 
                                                                                                                                               Contractor  
 

Signature ____________________________Date   Signature ____________________________________ 
                                        Customer                                                                                                                                             Contractor 

 
We will start on date __________________ Complete by date ___________________  
 
We will not be working in bad weather condition (rain, snow, etc.)     
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Notice of Cancellation 

 

 

Date: ___________ 

 

 

You may cancel this transaction, without any penalty or obligation, within Five businesses 

days from the above date. 

 

If you cancel, any property traded in, any payments made by you under the contract or sale, 

and any negotiable instrument executed by you will be returned within 10 business days  

following receipt by the seller of your cancellation notice, and any security interest arising out of  

the transaction will be cancelled. 

 

If you cancel, you must make available to the seller at your residence, in substantially as 

good condition as when received, any goods delivered to you under this contract or sale; or you 

may, if you wish, comply with the instructions of the seller regarding the return shipment of the 

goods at the seller’s expense and risk. 

 

If you do make the goods available to the seller and the seller does not pick them up within 

20 days of the date of your notice of cancellation, you may retain or dispose of the goods without  

any further obligation. If you fail to do so, then you remain liable for performance of all 

obligations the contract. 

 

To cancel this transaction, mail or deliver a signed and dates copy of this cancelation notice  

or any other written notice, or send a telegram, to: 

 

 

Jaris A. Espana                              at:           18416 Georgia Avenue Olney MD 20832 

(name of seller)                               (address of seller’s place of business) 

 

 

 

 

 

not later than midnight of _________________________ 

(date) 

 

I hereby cancel this transaction. 

 

___________________                            ____________________________________ 

(date)       (Buyer’s signature) 
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Customer Rating Scale 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING 

 

EXCEPTIONAL 
 

 

Work performance exceeds 

expectations in all areas of 

responsibility.  Remarkable 
achievement and pacesetting 

performance. 

 

MORE THAN 

SATISFACTORY 
 
Work performance exceeds 

expectations. 

 

SATISFACTORY 
 

 

Work performance meets 

expectations. 

 

NEEDS 

IMPROVEMENT 
 

Work performance does 

not meet expectations. 

Place an "X" in the box which describes the employee's overall performance rating. 

 
Customer  
 
Signature_______________________________ 
 

 
Date___________________________________ 

 
Contractor  
 
Signature__________________________________ 
 

 
Date______________________________________ 
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Services 
The Client engages the Contractor, a registered business specializing in commercial/Residential property 
maintenance, repair, and construction, to render roofing service ("Services") for the Client's Residential 
properties located at [First St, Rockville MD, 20850] (“Properties”) which has multiple roofing issues that require 
immediate entire replacement. 

 
The Contractor accepts the engagement and agrees to perform the following Services in  
a timely and professional manner for the following Units:  
 
 
First St, Rockville MD, 20850 
 

• 1232 – 1234 = 18 SQ  
• 1236 – 1238 = 18 SQ 
• 1240 – 1242 = 18 SQ  
• 1260 – 1262 = 12 SQ 
• 1264 – 1266 = 12 SQ 
• 1268 – 1270 = 12 SQ 
• 1300 – 1302 = 18 SQ 
• 1304 – 1306 = 18 SQ  
• 1308 – 1310 = 18 SQ 
• 1312 – 1314 = 18 SQ 
• 1316 – 1318 = 18 SQ 
• 1320 – 1322 = 18 SQ 
• 1309 – 1311 = 18 SQ 
• 1313 – 1315 = 18 SQ 
• 1317 – 1319 = 18 SQ 
• 1321 – 1323 = 18 SQ  
• 1325 – 1327 = 18 SQ  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROPOSAL SUBMITTED TO Jaime Bravo – Management supervisor  DATE 10/02/2025 
Phone (240) 401 8452 Email jbravo@rockvillehe.org  

 

Address 1300 Piccard Dr Suite #203 City/County   Rockville State MD 
Zip Code 20850 

mailto:jbravo@rockvillehe.org
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SCOPE of Work 

 

• Remove the Existing Roofing Shingles 288.00 SQ 

• Remove existing felt underlayment 288.00 SQ 

• Install New High Performance Synthetic Roofing Felt Underlayment 288.00 SQ 

• Install Laminated Composition Architectural Roofing Shingles Owens Corning True definition -
Duration Color Slatestone Gray 288.00 SQ (“Lifetime-Limited Warranty’’) 

• Install Pro-Start pre-cut eave/rake starter strip shingles. 

• Remove existing Flashing Pipe Jack(s)  

• Remove Existing Step Flashing  

• Install New Lifetime Flashing Pipe Jack(s) 

• Install New Aluminum Step Flashing  

• Install New Owens Corning Ridge Vent all away the ridge.  

• Install New Owens Corning Ridge Cap Composition Shingles 

 
Code Upgrade (Required  

Install New Aluminum Drip Edge along Eaves, Rakes  
(Code Upgrade: 1507.2.9.3) Drip Edge  
Install new Winter Guard Ice & Water Shield along the Eaves and Valleys  
(Code Upgrade: 1507.2.8.2) Ice Barrie 

  

 

 

Seamless Gutters Work Installation 
 

• Remove all the existing Gutters 

• Install all new Large square Seamless Gutters 6 inches wide 0.32-gauge thickness  

• Remove all the existing Downspouts 2 x 3 inches wide 

• Install all new Large square Downspouts 3 x 4 inches wide  

• Use Our Top-of-the-Line Hidden Hanger 
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  Allowances: 
 

• CDX Plywood 50 EA = $5,800.00 
• Fascia Board 1” x 6” 250 LF = $3,500.00 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

After the Job is Completed, we will Provide: 

 
• 10 YRS Labor Workmanship by Golden America Builders LLC. 

• Lifetime Manufacturer Warranty – Owens Corning  

• Certificate of completion. 

• Final Invoice. 

• Haul away all resulting trash and debris. 
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Terms and Conditions 
 

• TERM. 
This Contract shall be effective for [One (2)] Months, starting on [October 2nd, 2025], and terminating on     

[December 2nd, 2025]. However, as the time for performance of the Contractor is bound to uncontrollable conditions, 

the Client shall provide an allowance on the estimated completion date of the Services. The given allowance shall be 

discussed whenever necessary. 
 

• QUALITY OF WORK.  
The Contractor shall perform all the Services in a professional and conscientious manner, ensuring that it is 

employing the applicable industry methods, safety measures, standards, and processes throughout the roofing 

project. 
 

• PAYMENT TERMS.  
The Client agrees to pay two (2) payments of [Ninety Three Thousand Six-Hundred ($93,600.00)] for all the Services 

rendered during the given time which riches a total of ($187,200.00). 
 

• WARRANTIES.  

The Contractor warrants that it can perform the specified Services according to the industry standards. Similarly, the 

Client guarantees that it will not abuse or encroach the rights of the Contractor during the course of this Contract.  
 

• DISPUTE RESOLUTION.  
In the event of disputes, the Parties agree to settle the issues amicably through meetings and compromise. However, 

if the dispute continues, the Parties shall ask a third party to mediate the dispute in a fair and equitable position.  
 

• SEVERABILITY. 
Any invalidity or unenforceability, in whole or in part, of any term or condition in this Contract, shall not affect the 

validity of the other provisions and agreements created by Parties.  
 

• GOVERNING LAW.  

This Contract shall be governed by and construed under the applicable laws of the State of Maryland where the 

Property is located. 
 
 

Signature 
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Payments     
Please make your check payable to Golden America Builders LLC 
Deposit of: $93,600.00 After having signed this contract.  
Balance of: $93,600.00 When the Job is completed and inspected with homeowner. 
We propose hereby to furnish material and labor complete in accordance with above specification, for the sum 
of Dollars $187,200.00 
 
                                      Roof Replacement Cost → $177,900.00 
                                                Allowances Costs → $     9,300.00 
  

Acceptance of Proposal - The above price, specification Authorized 

And conditions are satisfactory and are hereby accepted.    

 
Client Signature _____________________________________ Date_____________ 
You are authorized to do the work as specified.       

 

Estimator Signature                                                                                           Date  

 
  

Balance $_____________ Date_____________ Signature ________________________ Signature ___________________________ 
                                                                                                                              Customer                                                                        Contractor 

 

Balance $_____________ Date_____________ Signature ________________________ Signature ___________________________ 
                                            Customer                                                                       Contractor 
 
Paid in full $______________________                Work Complete Date ____________________________ 
                                                                                                                                               Contractor  
 

Signature ____________________________Date   Signature ____________________________________ 
                                        Customer                                                                                                                                             Contractor 

 
We will start on date __________________ Complete by date ___________________  
 
We will not be working in bad weather condition (rain, snow, etc.)     
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Notice of Cancellation 

 

 

Date: ___________ 

 

 

You may cancel this transaction, without any penalty or obligation, within Five businesses 

days from the above date. 

 

If you cancel, any property traded in, any payments made by you under the contract or sale, 

and any negotiable instrument executed by you will be returned within 10 business days  

following receipt by the seller of your cancellation notice, and any security interest arising out of  

the transaction will be cancelled. 

 

If you cancel, you must make available to the seller at your residence, in substantially as 

good condition as when received, any goods delivered to you under this contract or sale; or you 

may, if you wish, comply with the instructions of the seller regarding the return shipment of the 

goods at the seller’s expense and risk. 

 

If you do make the goods available to the seller and the seller does not pick them up within 

20 days of the date of your notice of cancellation, you may retain or dispose of the goods without  

any further obligation. If you fail to do so, then you remain liable for performance of all 

obligations the contract. 

 

To cancel this transaction, mail or deliver a signed and dates copy of this cancelation notice  

or any other written notice, or send a telegram, to: 

 

 

Jaris A. Espana                              at:           18416 Georgia Avenue Olney MD 20832 

(name of seller)                               (address of seller’s place of business) 

 

 

 

 

 

not later than midnight of _________________________ 

(date) 

 

I hereby cancel this transaction. 

 

___________________                            ____________________________________ 

(date)       (Buyer’s signature) 
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Customer Rating Scale 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE RATING 

 

EXCEPTIONAL 
 

 

Work performance exceeds 

expectations in all areas of 

responsibility.  Remarkable 
achievement and pacesetting 

performance. 

 

MORE THAN 

SATISFACTORY 
 
Work performance exceeds 

expectations. 

 

SATISFACTORY 
 

 

Work performance meets 

expectations. 

 

NEEDS 

IMPROVEMENT 
 

Work performance does 

not meet expectations. 

Place an "X" in the box which describes the employee's overall performance rating. 

 
Customer  
 
Signature_______________________________ 
 
 

Date___________________________________ 

 
Contractor  
 
Signature__________________________________ 
 
 

Date______________________________________ 
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Rockville Housing Enterprises All Program Budget FY 2026

PH Voucher Mainstream Mod Rehab RHE Properties RHE Sc RELP One Dev Total 

 Revenue & Expenses

INCOME

VOUCHER PROGRAM ADMIN FEE INCOME
     Section 8 HAP Earned 7,310,284 893,744 41,191 8,245,219
     HAP Reserves -
 TOTAL HAP INCOME - 7,310,284 893,744 41,191 - - - - 8,245,219

     Section 8 Admin. Fee Income 605,611 58,453 7,846 671,910
     Port-In Admin Fees Earned 343,139 343,139
 TOTAL ADMIN FEE INCOME - 948,750 58,453 7,846 - - - - 1,015,049

 OTHER VOUCHER PROGRAM INCOME
     ROSS FSS 59,866 59,866
 TOTAL OTHER VOUCHER PROGRAM INCOME - 59,866 - 0 - - - - 59,866

 TOTAL VOUCHER PROGRAM INCOME 8,318,901 952,197 49,037 - - - - 9,320,134

     Rental Income
          Tenant Rent Received 436,993 38,217 122,595 558,945 1,156,749
          Tenant Assistance Payments 11,844 730,162 221,595 963,601
          Less: Concessions - -
     Total Rental Income 436,993 - - 0 50,061 852,757 780,541 2,120,351

     Other Tenant Income
          Damages
          Tenant Owed Utilities 21,964 21,964
          Misc.Tenant Income - 1,008 2,195 20,181 23,384
     Total Other Tenant Income 21,964 - - 0 1,008 2,195 20,181 - 45,348

 TPA/REPAYMENT - Move Out tenants
 NET TENANT INCOME 458,957 - - 0 51,068 854,951 800,722 - 2,165,698



 GRANT INCOME
     HUD PHA Operating Grants/Subsidy 571,827
     HUD PHA Operating Subsidy AMP 2 FIRESIDE -
     Capital Fund Grants 2024 302,743
     Capital Fund Grants 2023 -
     Youth Build Grant Consultant
     Fireside Dev Fee -
MTW - HAP Fungibility Funds 270,000
 TOTAL GRANT INCOME 1,144,570 - - 0 - - - - 1,144,570

 OTHER INCOME
     Investment Income - Unrestricted
     Management Fee Income RELP-Dev 89,162 89,162
     Fireside Development Fee -
     Maintenance Fee Income- RELP - - -
     RELP Asset Management Fee GP - -
     Miscellaneous Other Income - -
FSS Forfeiture -
Capital Fund 2019 -
ROSS - FSS 77,955 77,955
ROSS - Coordinator 81,300
CDBG Grant 75,000 75,000
Youth Build Grant 400,000 400,000
State Grant 75,197 75,197
Rad Grant 30,000 30,000
Radon Grant -
          OTHER FEES COLLECTED- FIRESIDE - -
RHE Subsidy
Scarbororough Square Refund - -
Replacement Reserve -
 TOTAL OTHER INCOME 739,452 - - 0 - - - 89,162 747,314

 TOTAL INCOME 2,342,979 8,318,901 952,197 49,037 51,068 854,951 800,722 89,162 13,377,717

 EXPENSES

 HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS
     Housing Assistance Payments 6,600,000 770,727 38,530 7,409,257



     Tenant Utility Payments-Voucher 35,000 621 35,621
     Portable Out HAP Payments 450,000 450,000
     FSS Escrow Payments  10,000 - 10,000
 TOTAL HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS 7,095,000 771,348 38,530 - - - - 7,904,878

MTW - FUNDING FLEX
     Public Housing Support - -
     Development Activities -
     MTW Flex Dev Fund Reserve -
 TOTAL MTW Flexlibilites - - - 0 - - - - -

 ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

     Administrative Salaries
          Administrative Salaries 438,910 420,000 35,393 497,522 58,239 1,450,064
          Maintenance Salaries 263,493 - - 263,493
          Employee Benefit Contribution-Admin 242,017 65,000 51,674 4,077 362,768
          FSS Salaries 58,654 40,000 98,654
          FSS Employee Benefits - -
ROSS Salaries 70,000
ROSS Training 5,000
ROSS Employee Benefits -
Employee Benefit ( Metro Card) 3,600
Non employee compensation 15,000 9,600
          Merit Award- Additional Compensation 2,000 2,000 4,000
     Total Administrative Salaries 995,642 527,000 35,393 - - 558,795 62,317 - 2,178,979

     Legal Expense
          Criminal Background Checks 1,000 5,000 1,000 500 500 8,000
          General Legal Expense 18,000 7,000 - 4,000 8,000 37,000
          PH Conversion Legal 8,000 - 8,000
     Total Legal Expense 27,000 12,000 - - 1,000 4,500 8,500 - 53,000

     Other Admin Expenses
          VO Port Out Admin Fee Paid 31,305 2,128 33,433
          PH Conversion Title Work-Title Insurance 15,000 15,000
          Staff Training 15,000 15,000 15,000 5,000 50,000
          Travel 2,500 - 2,500
          Payroll Services - -



          Auditing Fees - RHE 8,000 18,700 0 15,000 20,000 61,700
          Petty Cash - -
          Marketing/Printing 4,000 3,500 500 8,000
          Office Rent 81,011 56,414 74,000 30,377 241,802
          Financial-Consultants 10,000 10,000 2,100 22,100
          MTW Consultant 15,000 60,000 - 75,000
          Other Consultant- Ross HO 5,000 5,000
          Other Consultant- FSS 4,000 4,000
          Ross/Youth Build Grant Consultant 60,000
          Management Fee - 85,000 85,000
          Asset Management Fee - LP -
          Asset Management Fee - GP - -
          Asset Management Fee - DCHD - -
          Utility Allowance Study Study 2,261 2,261 - 4,522
     Total Other Admin Expenses 161,772 197,180 2,128 - - 166,600 140,377 - 668,057

    Routine Admin Expenses
          Document Shredding 1,000 3,000 - 4,000
          Membership and Fees 2,500 5,000 500 8,000
          Advertising 1,000 1,000 - 2,000
          Office Supplies 15,000 7,500 5,000 27,500
          Computer Parts 4,500 2,000 2,000 8,500
          Telephone 1,803 15,114 1,000 17,917
Fuel Administrative
          Postage 1,650 20,000 1,500 23,150
          Software Liscense Fees 80,000 40,000 20,000 4,000 144,000
          Copiers Rental 12,000 12,000 1,000 25,000
          Copiers Expenses - 1,000 - 1,000
          Internet 7,500 1,000 500 9,000
          Software - - -
          Cell Phones/Pagers 9,400 12,286 500 22,186
          Office Furniture 5,000 5,000 - 10,000
         New Suite Expenses -
          Bank Fees 4,000 10,000 2,000 3,000 9,099 28,099
          Sponsorships- Scholarship 4,000 - - 4,000
      Youth Build Stipend 14,302 - 14,302
      Youth Build Expenses ( minus salary) 205,515
      Youth Build RHE assistance 1,000
          REAC/Nspire Inspections 4,518 - 4,518



          COVID-19 - - -
     Total Routine Admin Expenses 374,688 134,900 - - 2,000 35,000 13,099 - 559,687

 TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 1,559,102 871,081 808,869 38,530 3,000 764,895 224,292 - 3,459,723

 TENANT SERVICES
     Resident Services 6,000 3,000 - 9,000
     HQS Inspections 12,000 12,000
Move in Inspection 12,000
 TOTAL TENANT SERVICES EXPENSES 6,000 27,000 - - - - - - 21,000

 UTILITIES
     Water 65,000 1,000 2,238 68,238
     Sewer 65,000 1,000 2,238 68,238
     Electricity 80,000 1,000 2,200 83,200
     Electricity-Vacant Units - 1,000 400 1,400
     Gas 9,500 1,000 1,500 12,000
     Gas-Vacant Units 800 1,000 500 2,300
     Garbage/Trash Removal 3,000 1,000 4,000
 TOTAL UTILITY EXPENSES 223,300 - - - - 7,000 9,075 - 239,375

 MAINTENANCE AND OPERATIONS

     General Maint Expense
          Maintenance Labor-Grounds 1,500 - 11,238 12,738
          Maintenace Uniforms 1,000 - 1,000
          Maintenance Van 20,000
          Vehicle Gas, Oil, Grease 3,500 - 1,050 4,550
     Total General Maint Expense 26,000 - - - - - 12,288 - 38,288

Routine Maintenance 
Exterior Lighting 3,000 - 3,000
Materials -
          Supplies-Grounds 2,000 - 2,000
          Supplies-Appliance 15,000 500 1,200 1,500 18,200
          Supplies-Electrical 8,000 1,000 500 9,500
          Supplies-Janitorial/Cleaning 500 250 500 1,250
          Supplies-Maint/Repairs - 200 200
          Supplies-Plumbing 12,000 500 1,000 1,500 15,000



          Hardware Supplies 20,000 1,000 1,500 22,500
          Painting Supplies 1,000 500 300 1,800
          HVAC Supplies 1,000 500 1,500
     Total Materials 62,500 - - 0 1,000 5,650 5,800 - 74,950

     Contract Costs
General Contract Costs
        Appliance Purchase- Refrigerator 5,000 2,000 2,000 9,000
        Appliance Purchase - Stove 5,000 500 2,000 1,500 9,000
        Appliance Purchase - Microwave 1,000 500 500 1,000 3,000
        Applicance Purchse Dishwasher 6,065 500 1,000 1,000 8,565
        Appliance Purchase- Hot water heater 7,000 1,500 2,500 4,500 15,500
        Pool Supplies
        Contract Appliance Repairs 567 600 1,000 1,500 3,667
        Appliance Purchase HVAC -
        Appliance Purchase- Washer Dryer 6,000 500 - 10,759 17,259
          Contract-Building Repairs 25,000 1,100 3,000 4,000 33,100
          Pool Repair -
          Pool Operation -
          Contract- General Cleaning 4,200 1,000 2,500 7,700
          Contract- Painting 6,000 550 2,000 1,000 9,550
          Contract-Electrical 10,000 500 4,000 1,500 16,000
          Contract-Pest Control 30,000 500 2,000 2,000 34,500
          Contract-Floor Replacement 15,000 3,000 2,000 8,384 28,384
          Contract-Cabinet Replacement 10,000 - 5,000
           Roof Replacement - 5,000 5,000
          Contract-Grounds 2,500 2,500 5,000
          Contract- Snow 20,000 5,000 25,000
          Contract-Plumbing 20,000 1,500 7,000 12,000 40,500
          Contract-Window Covering 1,500 500 2,000
          Contract-HVAC/ Repair or Replace 5,000 5,550 10,000 12,000 32,550
          Contract-Vehicle Maintenance 8,000 - 8,000
          Contract-Equipment Rental - - -
          Contract-Alarm Monitoring 5,000 200 5,200
          Contract-Sprinkler Monitoring 1,000 - 1,000
          Contract- Carpet Turnover/Flooring - - 6,000 6,000
          Unit Turnover 15,000 5,000 15,000 35,000
          Movers/ Evictions 7,000 - 7,000
Appliance Parts 500



          Hotel/ Emergency Maint - - -
          Security Camera Repairs 5,000 - 5,000
          Contract Cost- Lead Inspection 8,500 3,000 11,500
          Contract-Storage 12,000 - 5,760 17,760
          Contract- Keys 6,500 55 600 500 7,655
     Total Contract Costs 247,832 - - - 16,855 56,800 103,403 - 424,890

-
          CDBG 94,000 94,000
          Roof Repair - Non CDBG - -
          State Grant- Community Center - -
          Rad Conversion 30,000 30,000
          Radon Grant - -

-
 TOTAL MAINTENACE EXPENSES 460,332 - - - 17,855 62,450 121,491 - 662,128

 GENERAL EXPENSES
     Insurance -
          Property Insurance/Liability 66,000 25,000 6,000 6,500 12,360 115,860
     Real Estate Taxes/PILOT 11,809 4,000 6,857 17,267 39,934
     Association Fees - HOA 25,000 - 198,896 223,896
     Misc. Taxes/Liscenses/Insurance 1,500 5,000 4,538 11,038
     Fireside Development/Management Fees 45,000 - 45,000
     Fireside Owner Expenses (audit/taxes) - -
Scarborough Square Pred Expenses - -
 TOTAL GENERAL EXPENSES 124,309 25,000 - - 35,000 18,357 233,061 - 435,728

 FINANCING EXPENSE
     Interest Expense-Bond 1 16,837 16,837
     Interest Expense-Bond 2 182,037 182,037
     Interest Expense-Mortgage Payable 45,429 - 26,895 72,325
     Morgtage MIP 18,223 18,223
Montgomery County Loan Interest Payment - -
RHE Loan Interest Payment 1,611 1,611
 TOTAL FINANCING EXPENSES 45,429 - 245,603 291,033

PH HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS
     Tenant Utility Payments-Voucher 36 36



     FSS Escrow Payments - -
 TOTAL PH HOUSING ASSISTANCE PAYMENTS 36 - - - - - - - 36

 TOTAL EXPENSES 2,373,079 8,018,081 808,869 38,530 101,284 852,702 833,523 - 13,026,069

 NET INCOME (30,101) 5,218 143,328 10,507 (50,216) 2,249 (32,801) 89,162 137,346
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

Board of Commissioners 
Rockville Housing Enterprises  
Rockville, Maryland 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Rockville Housing Enterprises (the 
Authority) as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

In our opinion, based on our audit and the report of other auditors, the financial statements 
referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Authority as 
of September 30, 2024, and the changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. 

We did not audit the financial statements of RELP One, LP, a blended component unit, which 
represents 4%, -16%, and 5%, respectively, of the assets, net position, and revenues of the 
Authority. Those statements were audited by other auditors whose report has been furnished to 
us and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for this entity, is based solely on 
the report of the other auditors.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the 
Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Authority, 
and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. The financial statements of the 
blended component units were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 
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Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and 
for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the 
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial 
statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt 
shortly thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and Government 
Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks.
Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events considered in the
aggregate that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.
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We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 5 - 8 be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards 
Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of 
inquires of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the 
information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. 
We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedure did not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 

Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements. The Financial Data Schedule 
and Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit 
Requirements for Federal Awards, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a 
required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of 
management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic 
financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Financial Data 
Schedule, and Schedule of Expenditures of the Federal Awards are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 
25, 2025 on our consideration of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and our 
tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and agreements and 
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control 
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting or on 
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government 
Auditing Standards in considering the Authority’s internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance.   

Bethesda, Maryland 
June 25, 2025
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The management of Rockville Housing Enterprises (the “Authority” or “RHE”) offers the readers of the Authority’s 
financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the Authority’s financial activities for the year ended 
September 30, 2024. This discussion and analysis are designed to assist the reader in focusing on significant 
financial issues, provide an overview of the Authority’s financial activity, identify changes in the Authority’s 
financial position, and identify individual program issues or concerns. Readers should consider the information 
presented here in conjunction with the Authority's financial statements to obtain a full understanding of its financial 
position. 

This management’s discussion and analysis is presented in accordance with the requirements of the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 34 (“GASB 34”) to allow the reader to gain an adequate understanding 
of the Authority’s annual operating results and financial position as of September 30, 2024. 

Questions concerning the information provided in this discussion or requests for additional information should be 
addressed to the Authority’s Executive Director. at 1300 Piccard Drive, Suite 202, Rockville, Maryland 20850. 

Financial Highlights 

 The assets of the Authority exceeded its liabilities at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $22,189,442
(net position) as compared to $15,479,806 for the prior fiscal year.

 The Authority’s cash and investments balance as of September 30, 2024, was $3,286,572 representing an
increase of $331,833 or 11.23% from September 30, 2023.

 The Authority had total revenues of $32,325,082 and total expenses of $25,615,446 for the year ended
September 30, 2024.

Overview of the Financial Reports 

The following outline describes the integral parts of this financial presentation and is a guideline for understanding 
its components: 

I. Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) - Serves as an introduction to the Authority’s
basic financial statements.

II. Basic Financial Statements - Authority-wide financial statements and notes to the financial
statements

III. Other Supplementary Information
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Overview of the Financial Reports (continued) 

The financial statements in this report are those of a special purpose governmental entity engaged in a business type 
activity.  The following statements are included: 

 Statement of Net Position – presents information about the Authority’s assets and liabilities and is similar
to a balance sheet.  The Statement of Net Position reports all financial and capital resources for the
Authority.  The statement is presented in the format where assets, minus liabilities, equal “Net Position”,
formerly known as equity.  Assets and liabilities are presented in order of liquidity and are classified as
“current” (convertible to cash within one year), and “non-current.”  Increases or decreases in net position
will serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is improving or
deteriorating.

 Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position – reports the Authority’s revenues by source
and type and its expenses by category to substantiate the change in net position for the fiscal year.

 Statement of Cash Flows – discloses net cash provided by, or used for operating activities, non-capital
financing activities, and capital and related financing activities.

Our analysis of the Authority follows with the most important question, “Has the Authority’s financial health 
improved or worsened as a result of the year’s activities?”  The following analysis of entity-wide net position, 
revenues, and expenses is provided to assist with answering the above question.  This analysis includes all assets and 
liabilities using the accrual method of accounting, which recognizes revenue when earned and expenses when 
incurred regardless of when cash is received or paid. 

Analysis of Authority-wide Net Position (Statement of Net Position) 

2024 2023 Total Change % Change

Cash & investments $ 3,286,572 $ 2,954,739 $ 331,833        11.23%
Other current assets 885,083 1,257,134 (372,051)      -29.60%
Capital assets 56,042,556 57,456,557 (1,414,001)   -2.46%
Other assets 1,615,787 523,501     1,092,286     100.00%
Other noncurrent assets 910,300 1,337,924 (427,624)      -31.96%

 Total Assets $ 62,740,298          $ 63,529,855    $ (789,557)      -1.24%

Current liabilities $ 973,981 $ 692,543 $ 281,438        40.64%
Noncurrent liabilities 39,576,875 47,357,506 (7,780,631)   -16.43%

 Total Liabilities 40,550,856          48,050,049    (7,499,193)   -15.61%

Investment in capital assets 16,327,744          10,152,125    6,175,619     60.83%
Restricted 2,068,563   1,322,386  746,177        56.43%
Unrestricted 3,793,135   4,005,295  (212,160)      -5.30%

 Total Net Position 22,189,442          15,479,806    6,709,636     43.34%

 Total Liabilities & Net Position $ 62,740,298          $ 63,529,855    $ (789,557)      -1.24%

Rockville Housing Enterprises
Comparative Statement of Net Position
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Analysis of Authority-wide Net Position (Statement of Net Position) 
 
The decrease in noncurrent liabilities was primarily due to a conversion of Scarborough Square debt to equity. 
 
Analysis of Authority-Wide Revenue and Expenses (Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Change in Net 
Position) 
 
The following table illustrates changes in revenues and expenses from FY 2023 to FY 2024: 
 

2024 2023 Total Change % Change
Revenue
Tenant revenue $ 5,657,335 $ 2,807,253 $ 2,850,082 101.53%
Grant funding 10,012,642 8,742,102 1,270,540 14.53%
Other income 7,465,082 4,971,999 2,493,083 50.14%

Total Revenue 23,135,059 16,521,354 6,613,705 40.03%

Expenses
Administration 3,245,749 2,172,369 1,073,380 49.41%
Tenant services 59,498 52,133 7,365 14.13%
Utilities 492,072 317,272 174,800 55.09%
Maintenance 1,130,716 716,021 414,695 57.92%
General expense 1,225,728 648,004 577,724 89.15%
Housing assistance payments 13,388,375 11,072,320 2,316,055 20.92%
Depreciation 1,730,155 893,925 836,230 93.55%

Total Expenses 21,272,293 15,872,044 5,400,249 34.02%

Net operating income (loss) 1,862,766 649,310 1,213,456 186.88%

Nonoperating revenues (expenses)
Investment income 1,619 1,619 -                          0.00%
Interest expense (3,943,645) (217,919) (3,725,726) 1709.68%
Disbributions to investors (399,508) -                           (399,508)                 100.00%

Total net operating income (loss) (4,341,534) (216,300) (4,125,234) 1907.18%

Capital contributions 9,188,404               -                           9,188,404 100.00%

Change in Net Position 6,709,636 433,010 6,276,626 1449.53%

Beginning Net Position 15,479,806 15,046,796 433,010 2.88%

Ending Net Position $ 22,189,442 15,479,806$             $ 6,709,636 43.34%

Rockville Housing Enterprises
Comparative Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

 
 
The federal government continued to fund operating grants at a level below total eligibility for the period ended 
September 30, 2024. With no signs of improvement in federal funding or economic conditions in the foreseeable 
future, the Authority is using proactive measures to review staff responsibilities and implementing cost management 
strategies. The Authority continuously looks for new ways to improve operations, control costs, maximize 
effectiveness, and demonstrate accountability. 
 
Total expenses increased primarily due to an increase in administrative expenses, maintenance expenses, housing 
assistance payments, and depreciation expenses. 
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Capital Assets 

2024 2023 Total Change % Change

Land $ 7,266,739 $ 7,266,739 $ - 0.00%
Buildings & improvements 63,077,206 62,906,290 170,916            0.27%
Right to use asset 372,920 822,004          (449,084)          100.00%
Furniture & equipment 894,896 711,971 182,925            25.69%
Infrastructure 7,093 7,093 - 0.00%
Construction in progress 242,861      - 242,861 100.00%

71,861,715 71,714,097 147,618 0.21%
Accumulated depreciation (15,819,159) (14,257,540) (1,561,619)       10.95%

  Total Capital Assets $ 56,042,556 $ 57,456,557 $ (1,414,001) -2.46%

Rockville Housing Enterprises
Comparative Statement of Capital Assets

Debt Outstanding 

As of the year-end, the Authority had outstanding debt of $39,553,709, which was a decrease of $7,842,634 from 
last year’s balance of $47,396,343. 

Effective October 1, 2023, Orlo Scarborough Investors, LLC enacted the option to convert $9,000,000 of the 
$33,000,000 mortgage with Orlo Scarborough Investors, LLC into member equity and assigning Orlo Scarborough 
Investors, LLC a 49% membership interest. 

Economic Factors 

Several significant economic factors are present that may impact the Authority in the future.  

 Congressional funding of the Department of Housing and Urban Development, including any subsidy
proration.

 The expiration of the frozen formula income provision has substantially decreased operating subsidy
eligibility.

 Local inflationary, recessionary, and employment trends, which can affect resident incomes and therefore
the amount of rental income.

 Inflationary pressure on utility rates, supplies and other costs.
 Health care and other insurance costs are expected to increase dramatically over the next several years

especially due to the Affordable Care Act.

Financial Contact 

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this Management’s Discussion & Analysis should be 
addressed to:   

Christele Etienbla, Executive Director 
Rockville Housing Enterprises 
1300 Piccard Drive, Suite 202 

Rockville, MD 20850 
(301) 424-6265



Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents, unrestricted 964,909$                   

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted 2,321,663                  

Accounts receivable, net 790,490                     

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 94,593                       

Total current assets 4,171,655                  

Noncurrent assets

Capital assets

Land 7,266,739                  

Buildings and improvements 63,077,206                

Right to use asset 372,920                     

Furniture and equipment 894,896                     

Infrastructure 7,093                         

Construction in progress 242,861                     

Less: Accumulated depreciation (15,819,159)              

Total capital assets 56,042,556                

Other assets                    1,615,787 

Notes receivable, noncurrent                       910,300 

Total noncurrent assets                  58,568,643 

TOTAL ASSETS 62,740,298$              

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

_______________

ASSETS

September 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Current liabilities

Accounts payable 55,019$                     

Accrued liabilities 212,308

Accrued compensated absences, current 6,721

Tenant security deposits 147,974

Unearned revenue 103,228

Current portion of long-term debt 142,455

Other current liabilities 306,276                     

Total current liabilities 973,981                     

Noncurrent liabilities

Long-term debt, net of current 39,411,254

Accrued compensated absences, noncurrent 60,495

Other noncurrent liabilities 105,126                     

Total noncurrent liabilities 39,576,875                

Total liabilities 40,550,856                

Net position

Net investment in capital assets 16,327,744                

Restricted net position 2,068,563                  

Unrestricted net position 3,793,135                  

Total net position 22,189,442                

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION 62,740,298$              

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION

_______________
September 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Operating Revenues

Dwelling rent  $               5,657,335 

Government grants and subsidy 10,012,642

Other operating income 7,465,082                

Total operating revenues 23,135,059              

Operating Expenses

Administration 3,245,749

Tenant services 59,498

Utilities 492,072

Maintenance and operations 1,130,716

General expense 1,225,728

Housing assistance payments 13,388,375

Depreciation and amortization 1,730,155                

Total operating expenses 21,272,293              

Net operating income (loss) 1,862,766                

Non-operating revenues (expenses)

Investment income 1,619

Interest expense (3,943,645)               

Distributions to investors (399,508)                  

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (4,341,534)               

Capital contributions 9,188,404                

Change in net position 6,709,636                

Net position, beginning of period 15,479,806              

    Net position, end of period 22,189,442$            

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 

_____________

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Year ended September 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from tenants 5,181,144$             

Proceeds from other governments - operations 9,797,349               

Other income receipts 7,914,813               

Payments to suppliers (4,633,072)              

Payments for housing assistance (13,388,375)            

Payments to employees (1,839,794)              

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 3,032,065               

Cash flows from capital and related financing activities

Capital contributions 188,404                  

Issuance of new debt 1,200,000               

Princpal payments on mortgage and notes payable (945,175)                 

Interest payments on mortgage and notes payable (2,533,883)              

Purchase of capital assets (596,702)                 

Distributions to investors (399,508)                 

Net cash provided (used) by capital and related financing activities (3,086,864)              

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from investments 28,993                    

Proceeds from notes receivable 385,013                  

Interest received on notes receivable 1,619                      

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 415,625                  

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 360,826                  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning 2,925,746               

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, ending 3,286,572$             

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Unrestricted 964,909$                

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Restricted 2,321,663               

     Cash and Cash Equivalents per Statement of Net Position 3,286,572$             

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

_____________

RECONCILIATION OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS PER STATEMENT 
OF CASH FLOWS TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

Year ended September 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Conversion of mortgage into membership equity (9,000,000)$            

Reconciliation of net operating income (loss) to net cash provided (used) by operating 

activities

Net operating income (loss) 1,862,766$             

Adjustments to reconcile net operating income (loss) to net cash 

provided by (used) operating activities:

Depreciation 1,730,155               

Forgiveness of homeowner loans 41,000                    

Changes in operating assets and liabilities

Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable 285,693                  
Decrease (increase) in prepaid expenses 87,969                    
Decrease (increase) in other assets (1,092,286)              
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 7,895                      
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 2,775                      
Increase (decrease) in accrued compensated absences 15,205                    
Increase (decrease) in unearned revenue (31,736)                   

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 122,629                  

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 3,032,065$             

NONCASH CAPITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTIVITIES

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 

_____________

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 

Year ended September 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION  

Rockville Housing Enterprises (the Authority or RHE) is a public body and a body corporate and 
politic organized under the laws of the state of Maryland for the purpose of providing adequate 
housing for qualified low-income individuals. The Authority is governed by a board of 
commissioners appointed by the mayor of the city of Rockville, Maryland, subject to approval by 
the City Council, and has substantial autonomy. Additionally, the Authority has entered annual 
contribution contracts with the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) to 
be the administrator of the housing and housing-related programs described herein. 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

The financial statements of Rockville Housing Enterprises have been prepared in conformity 
with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) as applied to government units. The 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for 
establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more significant 
accounting policies of the Authority are described below.   

A. Reporting Entity

In determining how to define the reporting entity, management has considered all potential 
component units by applying the criteria established by the GASB. Based on these criteria, the 
following entities are included in the accompanying financial statements as blended component 
units as of and for the year ended December 31, 2023: 

RHE Properties, Inc. - Established by Rockville Housing Enterprises to account for 
properties purchased and other future non-subsidies properties. 

Rockville Housing Enterprises Corporation (RHE Corporation) – A not-for-profit 
corporation established to be the general partner in RELP One, LP. 

RHE Fireside Park, Inc. – A not-for-profit corporation established to be a general partner 
in FPA, LP. 

RELP One, LP - This is a limited partnership formed for the purpose of acquiring 
Moderately Priced Dwelling Units (MPDU). RHE Corporation is the general partner and 
the Authority is entitled to its respective share of annual operating income or loss. The 
Authority had a .01% interest in the entity. Effective December 3, 2021, Transamerica 
Life Insurance Company assigned its 99.98% ownership interest, rights, and obligations 
to RHE Corporation as evidenced by an executed Agreement for Purchase and Sale of 
Partnership Interest dated December 3, 2021. RHE Corporation is wholly owned by 
RHE.  
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
A. Reporting Entity (continued) 
 

RHE Scarborough Square, LLC - This is a limited liability company established under 
the laws of the State of Maryland for the purpose of acquiring, constructing and operating 
a 121 unit multi-family project. The property is currently known as Scarborough Square 
Apartments. 

 
A joint venture is a legal entity or other organization that results from a contractual agreement 
and that is owned, operated, or governed by two or more participants as a separate and specific 
activity subject to joint control in which the participants retain (a) an ongoing financial interest 
or (b) an ongoing financial responsibility. The Authority participates in the following joint 
ventures: 
 

FPA, LP (a Maryland Limited Partnership) (the Partnership) was formed on July 23, 
2018 for the purpose of acquiring, developing, owning and operating 236 total units in 22 
multi-family buildings located in Rockville, Maryland, known as Fireside Park 
Apartments (the Property). The Partnership acquired the Property on June 30, 2020. 
Upon acquisition, substantial rehabilitation of the Property began. Rehabilitation was 
completed in 2022. The Partnership has been approved for an allocation of Federal low-
income housing tax credits of $1,122,602. Pursuant to the Amended and Restated 
Agreement of Limited Partnership (the Partnership Agreement) dated June 30, 2020, the 
Investor Limited Partner is PNC Bank, N.A., a National Banking Association (the 
Investor Limited Partner) with a 99.99% interest, the Special Limited Partner is Columbia 
Housing SLP Corporation, an Oregon Corporation (the Special Limited Partner) with a 
0.00% interest. General Partners include RHE Fireside Park, Inc., a Maryland Nonstock 
Corporation (RHE General Partner), and Hampstead Fireside, LLC, a Maryland Limited 
Liability Company (HGI General Partner), (collectively, the General Partners), with a 
0.0049% and 0.0051% interest, respectively. 

 
Financial Accountability - The Authority is responsible for its debts, does not impose a financial 
burden on the City of Rockville and is entitled to all surpluses. No separate agency receives a 
financial benefit nor imposes a financial burden on the Authority. 
 
Imposition of Will - The City has no influence over the management, budget, or policies of the 
Authority. The Authority’s Board of Commissioners has the responsibility to significantly 
influence the Authority’s operations. This includes, but is not limited to, adoption of the budget, 
personnel management, sole title to, and residual interest in all assets (including facilities and 
properties), signing contracts, issuing bonds, and deciding which programs are to be provided. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

A. Reporting Entity (continued)

The Authority operates the following programs under Annual Contributions Contracts: 

Low Rent Public Housing Program - The objective of this program is to provide decent safe and 
sanitary housing and related facilities for eligible low-income families and the elderly. 

Capital Fund Program - The objective of this program is to improve the physical condition of the 
Low-Income Public Housing units and upgrade the management of the program. 

Housing Choice Voucher Program - This program provides rental assistance to help low- income 
families afford decent, safe and sanitary rental housing. The Authority provides rental assistance 
in the form of a Housing Assistance Payment to a landlord on behalf of the tenant. 

Public Housing Self-Sufficiency under ROSS - This program promotes the development of local 
strategies to coordinate the use of assistance under the Public Housing program with public and 
private resources to enable participating families to achieve economic independence and housing 
self-sufficiency. 

Youth Build Program - This program is a community-based pre-apprenticeship program that 
provides job training and educational services for opportunity youth ages 16-24 who left school 
without a secondary diploma. 

Moderate Rehabilitation - This program provides project-based rental assistance for low-income 
families. The program was repealed in 1991 and no new projects are authorized for development. 
Assistance is limited to properties previously rehabilitated pursuant to a housing assistance 
payments (HAP) contract between an owner and a Public Housing Agency (PHA). 

Mainstream Vouchers - This program enable families having a person with disabilities to lease 
affordable private housing of their choice. Mainstream program vouchers also assist persons with 
disabilities who often face difficulties in locating suitable and accessible housing on the private 
market. 

Moving to Work (MTW) – This program allows housing authorities to design and test innovative 
approaches in assisted housing. The purpose of the Authority’s MTW program is to provide 
incentives to families to become economically self-sufficient, to reduce the Authority’s costs and 
achieve greater cost effectiveness, and to increase housing choice for low-income families. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

B. Basis of Presentation

Basis of Accounting - The Authority uses the accrual basis of accounting for its proprietary fund. 
Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when 
liabilities are incurred, regardless of when the related cash flow takes place. 

Basis of Presentation - The financial statements of the Authority are presented from a fund 
perspective. Fund accounting is designed to demonstrate legal compliance and to aid financial 
management by segregating transactions related to certain Authority functions. The accounting 
and financial reporting method applied by a fund is determined by the fund’s measurement 
focus. The accounting objectives are determination of net income, financial position and cash 
flows. All assets and liabilities associated with the Proprietary Fund’s activities are included on 
the statement of net position. Proprietary fund equity is segregated into three broad components: 

Net investment in capital assets – This category consists of capital assets (including 
restricted capital assets), net of accumulated depreciation and reduced by any outstanding 
balances of bonds, mortgages, notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction, and improvements of those assets. 

Restricted net position – This category consists of resources restricted in their use by (1) 
external groups such as grantors, creditors, or laws and regulations of other governments; 
or (2) law, through constitutional provisions and enabling legislation. 

Unrestricted net position – This category includes all of the remaining resources that do 
not meet the definition of the other two categories. 

The Authority uses the following fund: 

Proprietary fund: 

Enterprise fund - This type of fund is reported using an economic resources measurement 
focus. Additionally, it is used to account for operations that are financed and operated in 
a manner similar to private businesses where a fee is charged to external users for 
services provided. The Authority accounts for its activity in a single enterprise fund. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

C. Revenue and Expenses

Revenues and expenses are recognized in essentially the same manner as used in commercial 
accounting. Revenues relating to the Authority’s operations include rental related income, 
interest income and other sources of revenues that are recognized in the accounting period in 
which they are earned. Other major sources of revenues include the operating subsidy from HUD 
and other HUD funding for capital and operating expenses. 

D. Budgets

The Authority adopts budgets on the basis of accounting consistent with the basis of 
accounting for the fund to which the budget applies. The Authority prepares annual operating 
budgets that are formally adopted by its Governing Board of Commissioners. The budgets for 
programs funded by HUD form the basis of the Federal Financial Assistance received through 
HUD. 

E. Use of Estimates in Preparing Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in the 
financial statements and in the disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 

F. Cash and Investments

The Authority’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, 
and short-term investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased. 

Restricted cash includes cash held with financial institutions until grantor restrictions are met 
to release the funds for their specified use, as well as for debt service payments and refunds of 
tenant security deposits. 

G. Accounts Receivable

All tenant receivables are shown net of an allowance for uncollectible accounts. The allowance 
for doubtful accounts is established based on periodic aging of receivables. No allowance is 
established for HUD and other governmental receivables since management believes that these 
amounts are fully collectible. 



ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 

 

19 
 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
H. Deferred costs and amortization 
 
For the blended component units, in accordance with the accounting standards applicable to 
their individual financial statements, debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization, are 
reported as a direct reduction from the face amount of the mortgage loans payable to which 
such costs relate. Amortization of debt issuance costs is reported as a component of interest 
expense and is computed using an imputed interest rate on the related loan. 
 
I. Capital Assets and Depreciation 
 
Capital assets are stated at historical cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line 
method. Donated capital assets are stated at their fair value on the date donated. This includes 
site acquisition and improvement, structures and equipment. All infrastructure assets were 
capitalized at the conclusion of development then dedicated to the County for maintenance and 
repairs. Depreciation of exhaustible capital assets used by proprietary funds is charged as an 
expense against operations, and accumulated depreciation is reported on the Statement of Net 
Position. All assets will be capitalized if they have a useful life beyond one year and an 
original cost greater than $5,000. 
 
The estimated useful lives for each major class of depreciable capital assets are as follows: 
 

Buildings and improvements  10-40 years 
Furniture and fixtures     5-10 years 
Equipment      3-10 years 

J  Leases 
 
Lessee – For new or modified contracts, the Authority determines whether the contract is a 
lease. If a contract is determined to be, or contain, a lease with a non-cancellable term in 
excess of 12 months (including any options to extend or terminate the lease when exercise is 
reasonably certain), the Authority records a lease asset and lease obligation which is calculated   
based on the value of the discounted future lease payments over the term of the lease. The 
Authority is a lessee for a non-cancellable lease of office space. The Authority recognizes a 
lease liability and right to use asset on the statement of net position. Leases with an initial, 
non-cancellable term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the statement of net position and 
expense is recognized as incurred over the lease term. At the commencement of the lease, the 
Authority measures the lease liability at the present value of payments expected to be made 
during the lease term and then reduces the liability by the principal portion of lease payments 
made. The lease asset is measured as the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for lease 
payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial direct costs, then 
amortized on a straight-line basis over a period that is the shorter of the lease term or the useful 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

J. Leases (continued)

life of similar capital assets. Lease payments are apportioned between interest expense and 
principal based on an amortization schedule calculated using the effective interest method. 

K. Compensated Absences

Compensated absences are absences for which employees will be paid, i.e., sick leave, vacation, 
and other approved leaves. The Authority accrues the liability for those absences that the 
employee has earned the rights to the benefits. Accrued amounts are based on the current salary 
rates. The Authority’s policy allows employees to accumulate unused vacation leave up to 240 
hours. Sick leave can be accumulated up to 240 hours but not paid upon termination. Vacation 
and sick pay are recorded as an expense and related liability in the year earned by employees. 

L. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Prominent events or changes in circumstances affecting capital assets are required to be 
evaluated to determine whether impairment of a capital asset has occurred.  Impaired capital 
assets that will no longer be used will be reported at the lower of carrying value or fair value. 
Impairment of capital assets with physical damage generally will be measured using the 
restoration cost approach, which uses the estimated cost to restore the capital asset to identify the 
portion of the historical cost of the capital asset that should be written off.  No such impairment 
loss was incurred during the year ended September 30, 2024. 

M. Operating Revenue and Expenses

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. 
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and 
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The 
principal operating revenues of the Authority are charges to customers for rents. Operating 
expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses, and depreciation on 
capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 
non-operating revenues and expenses. 

Subsidies received from HUD or other grantor agencies, for operating purposes, are recorded as 
operating revenue in the operating statement while capital grant funds are added to the net 
position in the non-operating revenue and expense. 
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NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

N. Insurance

The primary technique used for risk financing is the purchase of insurance policies from 
commercial insurers that include a large deductible amount. The use of a large deductible 
clause reduces the cost of insurance, but, should loses occur, the portion of the uninsured loss 
is not expected to be significant with respect to the financial position of the Authority. The 
Authority secures required insurance coverage through the competitive bid process. As of the 
date of the fieldwork, the Authority had the required coverage in force.  

O. New Accounting Pronouncements

The following Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncements became 
effective for the Authority during the year ended September 30, 2024: 

GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections – An Amendment of 
ASB Statement No. 62 will enhance accounting and financial reporting requirements for 
accounting changes and error corrections to provide more understandable, reliable, relevant, 
consistent, and comparable information for making decisions or assessing accountability. 

GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences updates the recognition, measurement, and 
disclosure guidance for compensated absences. 

The following pending GASB Pronouncements will be effective for the Authority in future 
years. The Authority is currently assessing the impact of these Statements: 

GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures has the objective of providing financial 
statement users with essential information about risks related to a government’s 
vulnerabilities due to certain concentrations or constraints. The requirements of this 
statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2024. 

GASB Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements makes changes to key 
components of the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing 
information that is essential for decision making and assessing a government’s 
accountability. The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning 
after June 15, 2025. 

GASB Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets will provide users of 
government financial statements with essential information about certain types of capital 
assets. The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 
15, 2025. 
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NOTE 3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

All the deposits of Rockville Housing Enterprises are either insured or collateralized by using the 
Dedicated Method whereby all deposits that exceed the federal depository insurance coverage 
level are collateralized with securities held by the Authority’s agents in these units’ names. 
Rockville Housing Enterprises has no policy regarding custodial credit risk for deposits. 
However, Rockville Housing Enterprises complies with HUD policies. 
 
At September 30, 2024, the Authority’s cash and investments had a carrying amount of 
$3,286,572 and bank balances of $3,404,011. 
 
The blended component units maintain their cash balances and certain reserves with financial 
institutions.  At times, these balances may exceed the federal insurance limits; however, the 
blended component units have not experienced any losses with respect to their bank balances in 
excess of government provided insurance. The blended component units’ respective 
managements believe that no significant concentration of credit risk exists with respect to these 
balances at December 31, 2023. 
 
Fair value is determined using a hierarchy of inputs for fair value assessments. This hierarchy 
has three levels: 
 

 Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 Level 2 - These are quoted market prices for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for 

identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other than quoted 
prices that are not observable. 

 Level 3 - These are unobservable inputs, such as a property valuation or an appraisal. 
 
Interest rate risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising 
interest rates, the Authority typically limits its investment portfolio to maturities of 12 months 
or less. 
 
Credit risk - The Authority has no policy regarding credit risk. 
 
Custodial credit risk - The Authority has no policy on custodial credit risk. 
 
Concentration of credit risk - The Authority places no limit on the amount that it invests in 
certificates of deposits. The Authority has no policy regarding credit risk. 
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NOTE 3. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED) 

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents 

FSS escrow 105,126$          
Tenant security deposits 147,974            
Liquidity guarantee - Fireside Park 750,000
Mortgage escrow deposits - RELP One 20,659              
Reserve for replacement - RELP One 47,904              
Interest escrow deposits - Scarborough Square 1,000,000         
Repair reserve - Scarborough Square 250,000 

2,321,663$       

Collateralization 

As of September 30, 2024, the following securities were pledged as collateral to secure the 
deposits of Rockville Housing Enterprises: 

Description Maturity Date Coupon Rate Value
FNMA Pool MA1256 11/1/2027 2.50% 175,404$       
FNMA Pool AK4047 2/1/2027 3.00% 205,859         
FHLMC Gold Pool 4/1/2028 2.50% 324,796         
FNR 2018-2 BA 2/25/2045 3.00% 842,291         
FG C91441 4/1/2032 3.00% 517,647         

2,065,997$    

NOTE 4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

Accounts receivable as of September 30, 2024 consisted of the following: 

Due from other PHAs - port ins 141,793$      
Accounts receivable - HUD 25,639          
Accounts receivable - other government 114,060
Due from tenants and landlords, net of allowance of $53,521 370,466
Accounts receivable - miscellaneous 119,335
Fraud recoverey, net of allowance of $64,268 291
Accrued interest receivable 18,906          

790,490$      
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NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS  
 
A summary of changes in capital assets is as follows: 
 

Beginning 
Balances Additions Disposals Adjustments

Ending
Balances

Land 7,266,739$      -$              -$             -$             7,266,739$      
Construction in progress -                   242,861         -               -               242,861           

 Total capital assets not being 
depreciated 7,266,739        242,861         -               -               7,509,600        

Buildings and improvements 62,906,290      170,916         -               -               63,077,206      
Right to use asset 822,004           -                -               (449,084)      372,920           
Furniture and equipment 711,971           182,925         -               -               894,896           
Infrastructure 7,093               -                -               -               7,093               

 Total capital assets being depreciated 64,447,358      353,841         -               (449,084)      64,352,115      

Accumulated depreciation (14,257,540)     (1,730,155)    -               168,536       (15,819,159)     

Enterprise activity capital assets, net 57,456,557$    (1,133,453)$  -$             (280,548)$    56,042,556$    
 

 
 
NOTE 6. NOTES RECEIVABLE AND OTHER ASSETS 
 
RHE obtained a $250,000 grant from the City of Rockville to assist in financing units for 
RELP One, LP. RHE then entered into a Note to lend the money to RELP One, LP dated 
March 19, 2002. The note is due 42 years from the date of the note based on 1% interest after 
the first two years. Payments shall commence on December 31, 2005. Payments are limited to 
available cash flow. The balance at September 30, 2024 of this note was $161,103 and has been 
eliminated in the financial statement presentation as RELP One is a blended component unit. 
 
As a part of the agreement with HUD to demolish the Public Housing units known as Lincoln 
Terrace, the developer for the Legacy Development is required to make Release Payments as 
the new units are sold. As a part of the development agreement for Legacy Development, when 
the buyers purchase property of the Legacy Development, the Authority obtains equity in a 
second mortgage which is noninterest bearing and not forgivable. The cumulative total of these 
second mortgage receivables at September 30, 2024, was $910,300. 
 
Other assets primarily consist of funds spent by RHE related to the acquisition of Scarborough 
Square. As of September 30, 2024, the cumulative total of these costs was $1,615,787.  
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NOTE 7. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at September 30, 2024 consisted of the following: 

Accrued wages/payroll taxes payable 20,623$
Accrued interest payable 191,685
Accounts payable - HUD PHA programs 10,438
Accounts payable - vendors 44,581 

267,327$              

NOTE 8. NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 

Non-current liabilities at September 30, 2024 consisted of the following: 

Beginning 
Balances Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balances

Current 
Portion

of Balance
Long-term debt 46,631,181$ 1,200,000$ (8,604,893)$ 39,226,288$ 91,486$   
Lease liability 765,162     - (437,741) 327,421  50,969  
Compensated absences 52,011 15,205    - 67,216 6,721
FSS escrows 205,036     - (99,910) 105,126 -   

47,653,390$ 1,215,205$ (9,142,544)$ 39,726,051$ 149,176$ 

NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT 

On October 25, 2012, RHE Properties purchased a property at 343 Fallsgrove Drive, 
Rockville, Maryland which was partially funded through a mortgage payable. The mortgage 
was scheduled to mature on October 25, 2022. The interest rate on the mortgage is a fixed rate 
of 4.65%. The required monthly payments were $555. Effective November 23, 2021, the 
maturity date was extended until November 23, 2041 (twenty years from the effective date of 
the modification). The interest rate was changed to 4.49%, and monthly payments based on a 
thirty-year amortization are required. Additionally, the lender has the option to call the debt 
after ten years. The mortgage payable as of December 31, 2023, was $68,745. 
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NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
On November 30, 2012, RHE Properties obtained a mortgage on a property at 219 Jay Drive, 
Rockville, Maryland that the Agency had previously purchased for the purposes of obtaining 
funds to purchase future properties. The mortgage was scheduled to mature on November 30, 
2022. The interest rate on the mortgage is a fixed rate of 4.57%. The required monthly 
payments were $522. Effective November 23, 2021, the maturity date was extended until 
November 23, 2041 (twenty years from the effective date of the modification). The interest rate 
was changed to 4.49%, and monthly payments based on a thirty-year amortization are required. 
Additionally, the lender has the option to call the debt after ten years. The mortgage payable as 
of December 31, 2023, was $63,272. 
 
On July 15, 2013, RHE Properties obtained a mortgage on a property at 722 Garden View 
Drive, Rockville, Maryland that the Agency had previously purchased for the purposes of 
obtaining funds to purchase future properties. The mortgage was scheduled to mature on July 
15, 2023. The interest rate on the mortgage is a fixed rate of 5.89%. The required monthly 
payments were $582. Effective November 23, 2021, the maturity date was extended until 
November 23, 2041 (twenty years from the effective date of the modification). The interest rate 
was changed to 4.49%, and monthly payments based on a thirty-year amortization are required. 
Additionally, the lender  has the option to call the debt after ten years. The mortgage payable 
as of December 31, 2023, was $66,941. 
 
On July 15, 2013, RHE Properties purchased a property at 229 Cork Tree Lane, Rockville, 
Maryland which was partially funded through a mortgage payable. The mortgage was 
scheduled to mature on July 15, 2023. The interest rate on the mortgage is a fixed rate of 
5.89%. The required monthly payments were $582. Effective November 23, 2021, the maturity 
date was extended until November 23, 2041 (twenty years from the effective date of the 
modification). The interest rate was changed to 4.49%, and monthly payments based on a 
thirty-year amortization are required. Additionally, the lender has the option to call the debt 
after ten years. The mortgage payable as of December 31, 2023, was $66,854. 
 
Principal and interest requirements for RHE Properties debt are as follows: 
 

December 31: Principal Interest Total
2024 12,347$    14,551$   26,898$   
2025 13,088      13,810     26,898     
2026 13,830      13,068     26,898     
2027 14,615      12,128     26,743     
2028 15,411      11,487     26,898     

2029 - 2033 91,401      43,092     134,493   
2034 - 2038 99,110      14,454     113,564   

2039 6,010        181          6,191       

265,812$  122,771$ 388,583$  



ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 

27 

NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

RELP One LP entered into a nonrecourse 40-year mortgage note provided through the sale of 
tax-exempt bonds in the principal amount of $3,900,000 in January 2005. The bonds were 
credit enhanced through the issuance of HUD risk-sharing mortgage insurance. Interest on the 
mortgage loan is at a rate of 5.21% per annum, plus a 0.05% mortgage insurance premium. 
Installments of $19,351 are due monthly until February 1, 2045. Interest incurred for the year 
ended December 22, 2023 amounted to $162,822, which includes amortization of debt issuance 
costs of $5,709. At December 31, 2023, accrued interest amounted to $14,638. At December 
31, 2023, the principal balance outstanding was $2,974,083. Debt issuance costs, net of 
accumulated amortization, totaled $88,852 as of December 31, 2023, and are related to the first 
mortgage. Debt issuance costs on the above note are being amortized using an imputed interest 
rate of 5.5716%. The liability of the Partnership under the mortgage note is limited to the 
underlying value of the real estate collateral plus other amounts deposited with the lender. 

Aggregate annual maturities of the mortgage note payable over each of the next five years and 
thereafter are as follows: 

December 31:
2024 79,139$      
2025 83,362        
2026 87,811        
2027 92,497        
2028 97,432        

Thereafter 2,533,842   

2,974,083$ 

RELP One LP obtained additional financing from Montgomery County in the original amount 
of $1,500,000. As of December 31, 2023, the remaining balance was $1,397,245. No interest 
was accrued and no payments were due through July 31, 2004. Thereafter, the note provides 
for annual installments of principal and interest accruing at a rate of 1.0% per annum. 
Payments of principal and interest, commencing on August 1, 2005, equal to the lesser of 50% 
of cash flow from operations after certain priority payments, as defined, or an amount equal to 
interest, and principal amortized over 40 years until maturity of the note on August 1, 2044. 
The note is secured by a deed of trust and a regulatory agreement. Interest incurred for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 amounted to $13,972. During the year ended December 31, 2023, 
the Partnership made loan payments of $39,916. As of December 31, 2023, accrued interest 
amounted to $0. 
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NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The Mayor and Council of Rockville advanced funds to RELP One LP, amounting to $120,000 
to aid in the acquisition of affordable dwelling units. The advances were made under the terms 
of a note issued by the City in connection with a loan agreement dated March 19, 2002. The 
note accrues no interest and must be repaid in full on or before June 13, 2043. The note is 
secured by a mortgage on certain property and an assignment of rents. As of December 31, 
2023, the remaining balance was $120,000. 
 
RHE Corporation has provided RELP One LP financing in the amount of $250,000. This note, 
funded from a grant by the City of Rockville to the General Partner, accrues no interest and 
requires no payments through December 31, 2004. Thereafter, interest accrues at the rate of 
1.0% per annum and annual payments equal to 50% of the net cash flow, as defined, or the 
amount which would pay interest and amortize the loan principal over 40 years, are due each 
December 31, commencing in 2005. Any unpaid principal and interest under this note shall be 
payable in full on December 31, 2044. As of December 31, 2023, the principal balance on the 
note was $161,103. Interest incurred for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $1,611. As of 
December 31, 2023, accrued interest amounted to $17,295. During the year ended December 
31, 2023, the Partnership did not make any loan payments. The principal balance has been 
eliminated for financial statement presentation as RELP One is a blended component unit. 
 
RHE Scarborough Square entered into a second nonrecourse note provided through 
Montgomery County in the principal amount of $11,800,000. Interest on the mortgage loan is 
at a rate of 1% per annum with a maturity date of December 14, 2027. No interest is being 
charged on the loan through December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, the outstanding 
balance was $9,508,000. 
 
RHE Scarborough Square entered into a nonrecourse mortgage note provided by Orlo 
Scarborough Investors, LLC in the principal amount of $33,000,000 in December 2022. 
Interest on the mortgage loan is at 8%. This mortgage had a maturity date of December 20, 
2023 which has been extended until December 20, 2024. Effective October 1, 2023, Orlo 
Scarborough Investors, LLC enacted the option to convert $9,000,000 of the $33,000,000 
mortgage with Orlo Scarborough Investors, LLC into member equity and assigning Orlo 
Scarborough Investors, LLC a 49% membership interest. As of December 31, 2023, the 
outstanding balance was $24,000,000. Interest expense incurred on this mortgage for the year 
ended December 31, 2023 was $2,467,726. 
 
RHE Scarborough Square entered into a nonrecourse, non-interest bearing, mortgage with the 
City of Rockville in the amount of $1,200,000. The mortgage has a maturity date of December 
14, 2027. 
 



ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 

29 

NOTE 9. LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 

Debt issuance costs totaled $150,000 as of December 31, 2023, and are related to the 
Montgomery County loan, and are reflected on the balance sheet as net of mortgages payable.  

Amortization expense related to the Montgomery County and Orlo loans totaled $1,275,000 for 
the year ended December 31, 2023. 

A summary of changes in long-term debt owed to third parties is as follows: 

Beginning 
Balances Additions Reductions

Ending
Balances Current

343 Fallsgrove Drive 71,279$      -$  (2,534)$    68,745$   2,676$    
219 Jay Drive 66,567     - (3,295) 63,272  3,441   
722 Garden View Way 69,884     - (2,943) 66,941  3,110   
229 Cork Tree Lane 69,808     - (2,954) 66,854  3,120   
RELP - $3.9 Million 3,049,186   - (75,103) 2,974,083   79,139     
RELP - Montgomery County 1,397,245   - - 1,397,245   -   
RELP - City of Rockville 120,000   - - 120,000   -   
Scarborough Square - Montgomery County 10,306,773    - (798,773) 9,508,000   -   
Scarborough Square - Orlo 33,000,000    - (9,000,000) 24,000,000    -   
Scarborough Square - City of Rockville - 1,200,000 - 1,200,000 -   

48,150,742    1,200,000  (9,885,602)   39,465,140    91,486     

Total Unamortized Debt Issuance Costs (1,519,561)    - 1,280,709 (238,852)    -   

Total Long Term Debt 46,631,181$     1,200,000$   (8,604,893)$   39,226,288$     91,486$      

RHE Properties also has an unused line of credit in the amount of $1,000,000. 
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NOTE 10. LEASES 
 
Lessee – Effective August 14, 2020, RHE entered into an agreement to lease 4,596 square feet 
of office space under a non-cancellable lease. The current term expires October 13, 2030 and 
the required lease payment at the effective date was $8,000 a month. On August 14 of each 
subsequent year until expiration, rent escalates 3% from the most recent rent amount. Effective 
December 1, 2022, an addendum was executed for an additional 2,282 square feet of office 
space for 24 months for $4,214 per month with the same rent escalation of 3% as the original 
lease. 
 
Future minimum payments are as follows: 
 

Principal Interest Total
2025 50,969$    11,418$   62,387$   
2026 46,194      9,641       55,834     
2027 49,447      8,024       57,472     
2028 52,863      6,294       59,157     
2029 56,447      4,445       60,892     
2030 71,501      2,834       74,335     

327,421$  42,656$   370,077$ 
 

 
NOTE 11. RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Authority is exposed to various risks of losses related to torts; theft or, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. Claims 
and liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred, and the amount of that 
loss can be reasonably estimated. There were no claims more than commercial coverage during 
the previous three years. 
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NOTE 12. PENSION AND PROFIT-SHARING PLANS 
 
A defined contribution retirement plan provides pension benefits in return for services 
rendered, provides an individual account for each participant, and specifies how contributions 
to the individual accounts are to be determined instead of specifying the amount of benefits the 
individual is to receive. 
 
The Authority has a profit-sharing plan with John Hancock where eligible employees open 
separate accounts with the plan’s administrator. The Authority contributes 6.5% of the 
employees’ gross salary bi-weekly. The Authority has no liability once the employee is 
terminated. The Authority’s contributions for the year ended September 30, 2024, were 
$82,415 and covered wages totaled $1,385,245. 
 
NOTE 13. ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 
 
The PHA Owned Housing Program is economically dependent on annual contributions and 
grants from HUD. The program operates at a loss prior to receiving the contributions and 
grants. 
 
NOTE 14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  
 
Legal 
 
Certain claims, suits, and complaints may arise in the ordinary course of business. In the 
opinion of the Authority’s management, any such matters are adequately covered by insurance. 
 
Grants and contracts 
 
The Authority participates in various federally-assisted grant programs that are subject to 
review and audit by the grantor agencies. Entitlement to these resources is generally 
conditional based upon compliance with terms and conditions of grant agreements and   
applicable federal regulations, including the expenditure of resources for allowable purposes. 
Any disallowance resulting from a federal audit may become a liability of the Authority. There 
were no such liabilities recorded as of September 30, 2024. 
 
Capital fund 
 
The Authority receives capital funding each year for ongoing capital improvements and repairs 
and maintenance. 
 



ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
___________________________ 

32 

NOTE 15. CONDENSED INFORMATION FOR BLENDED COMPONENT UNITS 

Condensed combining information for the Authority’s blended component units as of, and for the 
year ended December 31, 2023, is provided below. RHE Corporation and RHE Fireside Park had 
no material activity and therefore are not included in the accompanying condensed information. 

RHE Properties Scarborough Square RELP 1, LP TOTAL

ASSETS

Current assets 369,652$       1,638,735$      264,771$     2,273,158$   

Capital assets 12,674,354    39,666,220   2,015,995    54,356,569   

Other assets - 1,093,319 - 1,093,319 

  Total assets 13,044,006    42,398,274   2,280,766    57,723,046   

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities 49,689   1,378,094     244,575    1,672,358  

Noncurrent liabilities 276,818     34,558,000   4,484,440    39,319,258   

  Total liabilities 326,507   35,936,094    4,729,015   40,991,616   

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 12,408,542    5,108,220     (2,547,584)   14,969,178   

Restricted net position - 1,250,000 20,659   1,270,659  

Unrestricted net position 308,957     103,960 78,676   491,593    

  Total net position 12,717,499$     6,462,180$      (2,448,249)$ 16,731,430$ 

Combining Statement of Net Position Information
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NOTE 15. CONDENSED INFORMATION FOR BLENDED COMPONENT UNITS 
(CONTINUED) 

 
 

RHE Properties Scarborough Square RELP 1, LP TOTAL

REVENUE

Dwelling rent 1,004,486$       2,912,865$               871,086$     4,788,437$   

Government grant revenue -                  600,000                    -              600,000       

Other operating income 3,346               344,855                    15,900         364,101       

Capital contributions -                  9,000,000                 -              9,000,000     

Total revenues 1,007,832         12,857,720               886,986       14,752,538   

EXPENSES

Operating expense 811,695           1,589,830                 591,658       2,993,183     

Depreciation/amortization 262,842           927,488                    253,897       1,444,227     

Interest expense 7,261               3,742,726                 178,405       3,928,392     

Distributions to investors -                  399,508                    -              399,508       

Total expenses 1,081,798         6,659,552                 1,023,960    8,765,310     

CHANGE IN NET POSITION (73,966)            6,198,168                 (136,974)      5,987,228     

BEGINNING NET POSITION 12,791,465       264,012                    (2,311,275)   10,744,202   

ENDING NET POSITION 12,717,499$     6,462,180$               (2,448,249)$ 16,731,430$ 

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position Information

 
 
 

RHE Properties Scarborough Square RELP 1, LP TOTAL

Net Cash Provided/ (Used) by

Operating Activities 89,388$           85,839$                 82,185$               257,412$      

Capital and Related Financing Activities (52,307)            1,719                    (75,103)                (125,691)      

Investing Activities -                  (259,506)                -                      (259,506)      

Net Increase/(Decrease) in Cash 37,081             (171,948)                7,082                   (127,785)      

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year 64,780             1,686,298              188,006               1,939,084     

Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year 101,861$          1,514,350$            195,088$             1,811,299$   

Combining Statement of Cash Flows Information
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NOTE 16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

Events that occur after the statement of net position date but before the financial statements 
were available to be issued must be evaluated for recognition or disclosure. Management 
evaluated the activity of the Authority through June 25, 2025 (the date the financial statements 
were available to be issued) and determined that there are no material subsequent events 
requiring disclosure. 
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Project Total

6.2 Component 

Unit - Blended

14.896 PIH Family 

Self-Sufficiency 

Program

14.879 Mainstream 

Vouchers

14.871 Housing 

Choice Vouchers

14.870 Resident 

Opportunity and 

Supportive Services

17.274 Youth Build 

Program

14.856 Lower 

Income Housing 

Assistance 

Program_Section 8 

Moderate 

 AMPS  BCU  FSS  MV  HCVP  ROSS  YBP  S8_MOD 

 111      Cash - Unrestricted 63,651$                  375,089$                -$                        37,245$                  -$                        -$                        -$                        35,692$                  

 113      Cash - Other Restricted 38,102                    1,318,563               -                          1,328                      -                          -                          -                          -                          

 114      Cash - Tenant Security Deposits 30,327                    117,647                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 100      Total Cash 132,080                  1,811,299               -                          38,573                    -                          -                          -                          35,692                    

 121      Accounts Receivable - PHA Projects -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 122      Accounts Receivable - HUD Other Projects -                          -                          25,639                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 124      Accounts Receivable - Other Government 63,601                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          50,459                    -                          

 125      Accounts Receivable - Miscellaneous -                          119,335                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 126      Accounts Receivable - Tenants 111,803                  67,119                    -                          20,969                    -                          -                          -                          -                          

 126.1   Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -Tenants (57,190)                   -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 128      Fraud Recovery 64,559                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 128.1   Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Fraud (64,268)                   -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 129      Accrued Interest Receivable 18,906                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 120      Total Receivables, Net of Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 137,411                  186,454                  25,639                    20,969                    -                          -                          50,459                    -                          

 131      Investments - Unrestricted -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 142      Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 40,472                    30,955                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 144      Inter Program Due From 4,655                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 150      Total Current Assets 314,618                  2,028,708               25,639                    59,542                    -                          -                          50,459                    35,692                    

 161      Land 126,600                  7,138,799               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 162      Buildings 9,249,736               53,827,470             -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 163      Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Dwellings 332,662                  311,067                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 164      Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Administration 157,894                  47,365                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 165      Leasehold Improvements 241,894                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 166      Accumulated Depreciation (8,779,308)              (6,975,225)              -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 167      Construction in Progress 242,861                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 168      Infrastructure -                          7,093                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 160      Total Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 1,572,339               54,356,569             -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

  171      Notes, Loans and Mortgages Receivable - Non-Current 161,103                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 174      Other Assets 206,624                  1,093,319               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 180      Total Non-Current Assets 1,940,066               55,449,888             -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 290      Total Assets 2,254,684$             57,478,596$           25,639$                  59,542$                  -$                        -$                        50,459$                  35,692$                  
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 312      Accounts Payable <= 90 Days -$                        44,581$                  -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        

 321      Accrued Wage/Payroll Taxes Payable 13,530                    -                          -                          838                         -                          -                          -                          -                          

 322      Accrued Compensated Absences - Current Portion 2,645                      2,595                      -                          385                         -                          -                          -                          -                          

 325      Accrued Interest Payable -                          191,685                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 331      Accounts Payable - HUD PHA Programs -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          10,438                    

 341      Tenant Security Deposits 30,327                    117,647                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 342      Unearned Revenue 40,452                    62,776                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 343      Current Portion of L-T Debt - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue 33,061                    91,486                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 345      Other Current Liabilities -                          208,374                  -                          -                          -                          -                          22,653                    -                          

 346      Accrued Liabilities - Other 71,413                    3,836                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 347      Inter Program - Due To 281,045                  704,928                  25,639                    -                          -                          -                          27,806                    10,544                    

 310      Total Current Liabilities 472,473                  1,427,908               25,639                    1,223                      -                          -                          50,459                    20,982                    

 351      L-T Debt, Net of Current - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue 179,320                  39,295,905             -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 353      Non-current Liabilities - Other 38,102                    -                          -                          1,328                      -                          -                          -                          -                          

 354      Accrued Compensated Absences - Non Current 23,809                    23,353                    -                          3,469                      -                          -                          -                          -                          

 350      Total Non-Current Liabilities 241,231                  39,319,258             -                          4,797                      -                          -                          -                          -                          

 300      Total Liabilities 713,704                  40,747,166             25,639                    6,020                      -                          -                          50,459                    20,982                    

 508.4   Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,359,958               14,969,178             -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 511.4   Restricted Net Position -                          1,318,563               -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

 512.4   Unrestricted Net Position 181,022                  443,689                  -                          53,522                    -                          -                          -                          14,710                    

 513      Total Equity - Net Assets / Position 1,540,980               16,731,430             -                          53,522                    -                          -                          -                          14,710                    

 600      Total Liabilities and Equity - Net 2,254,684$             57,478,596$           25,639$                  59,542$                  -$                        -$                        50,459$                  35,692$                  
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 111      Cash - Unrestricted

 113      Cash - Other Restricted

 114      Cash - Tenant Security Deposits

 100      Total Cash

 121      Accounts Receivable - PHA Projects

 122      Accounts Receivable - HUD Other Projects

 124      Accounts Receivable - Other Government

 125      Accounts Receivable - Miscellaneous

 126      Accounts Receivable - Tenants

 126.1   Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -Tenants

 128      Fraud Recovery

 128.1   Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Fraud

 129      Accrued Interest Receivable

 120      Total Receivables, Net of Allowances for Doubtful Accounts

 131      Investments - Unrestricted

 142      Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

 144      Inter Program Due From

 150      Total Current Assets

 161      Land

 162      Buildings

 163      Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Dwellings

 164      Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Administration

 165      Leasehold Improvements

 166      Accumulated Depreciation

 167      Construction in Progress

 168      Infrastructure

 160      Total Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation

  171      Notes, Loans and Mortgages Receivable - Non-Current 

 174      Other Assets

 180      Total Non-Current Assets

 290      Total Assets

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for 

Capital Fund

14.EFA FSS 

Escrow Forfeiture 

Account Business Activities Subtotal ELIM Total

 MTW  OPS  HCV_MTW  CFP_MTW  EFA  BA 

127,754$                -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        325,478$                964,909$                -$                       964,909$                 

65,696                    -                          -                          -                          -                          750,000                  2,173,689               -                         2,173,689                

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          147,974                  -                         147,974                   

193,450                  -                          -                          -                          -                          1,075,478               3,286,572               -                         3,286,572                

141,793                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          141,793                  -                         141,793                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          25,639                    -                         25,639                     

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          114,060                  -                         114,060                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          119,335                  -                         119,335                   

227,765                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          427,656                  -                         427,656                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          (57,190)                   -                         (57,190)                    

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          64,559                    -                         64,559                     

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          (64,268)                   -                         (64,268)                    

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          18,906                    -                         18,906                     

369,558                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          790,490                  -                         790,490                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                         -                           

15,000                    -                          -                          -                          -                          8,166                      94,593                    -                         94,593                     

126,726                  -                          -                          -                          180,034                  738,547                  1,049,962               (1,049,962)             -                           

704,734                  -                          -                          -                          180,034                  1,822,191               5,221,617               (1,049,962)             4,171,655                

1,340                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          7,266,739               -                         7,266,739                

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          63,077,206             -                         63,077,206              

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          643,729                  -                         643,729                   

45,908                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          251,167                  -                         251,167                   

131,026                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          372,920                  -                         372,920                   

(64,626)                   -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          (15,819,159)            -                         (15,819,159)            

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          242,861                  -                         242,861                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          7,093                      -                         7,093                       

113,648                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          56,042,556             -                         56,042,556              

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          910,300                  1,071,403               (161,103)                910,300                   

261,000                  -                          -                          -                          -                          54,844                    1,615,787               -                         1,615,787                

374,648                  -                          -                          -                          -                          965,144                  58,729,746             (161,103)                58,568,643              

1,079,382$             -$                        -$                        -$                        180,034$                2,787,335$             63,951,363$           (1,211,065)$           62,740,298$            
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 312      Accounts Payable <= 90 Days

 321      Accrued Wage/Payroll Taxes Payable

 322      Accrued Compensated Absences - Current Portion

 325      Accrued Interest Payable

 331      Accounts Payable - HUD PHA Programs

 341      Tenant Security Deposits

 342      Unearned Revenue

 343      Current Portion of L-T Debt - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue 

 345      Other Current Liabilities

 346      Accrued Liabilities - Other

 347      Inter Program - Due To

 310      Total Current Liabilities

 351      L-T Debt, Net of Current - Capital Projects/Mortgage Revenue

 353      Non-current Liabilities - Other

 354      Accrued Compensated Absences - Non Current

 350      Total Non-Current Liabilities

 300      Total Liabilities

 508.4   Net Investment in Capital Assets

 511.4   Restricted Net Position

 512.4   Unrestricted Net Position

 513      Total Equity - Net Assets / Position

 600      Total Liabilities and Equity - Net 

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for 

Capital Fund

14.EFA FSS 

Escrow Forfeiture 

Account Business Activities Subtotal ELIM Total

-$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        44,581$                  -$                       44,581$                   

6,255                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          20,623                    -                         20,623                     

1,096                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          6,721                      -                         6,721                       

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          191,685                  -                         191,685                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          10,438                    -                         10,438                     

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          147,974                  -                         147,974                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          103,228                  -                         103,228                   

17,908                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          142,455                  -                         142,455                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          231,027                  -                         231,027                   

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          75,249                    -                         75,249                     

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,049,962               (1,049,962)             -                           

25,259                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          2,023,943               (1,049,962)             973,981                   

97,132                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          39,572,357             (161,103)                39,411,254              

65,696                    -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          105,126                  -                         105,126                   

9,864                      -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          60,495                    -                         60,495                     

172,692                  -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          39,737,978             (161,103)                39,576,875              

197,951                  -                          -                          -                          -                          41,761,921             (1,211,065)             40,550,856              

(1,392)                     -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          16,327,744             -                         16,327,744              

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          750,000                  2,068,563               -                         2,068,563                

882,823                  -                          -                          -                          180,034                  2,037,335               3,793,135               -                         3,793,135                

881,431                  -                          -                          -                          180,034                  2,787,335               22,189,442             -                         22,189,442              

1,079,382$             -$                        -$                        -$                        180,034$                2,787,335$             63,951,363$           (1,211,065)$           62,740,298$            
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Project Total

6.2 Component Unit 

- Blended

14.896 PIH Family 

Self-Sufficiency 

Program

14.879 Mainstream 

Vouchers

14.871 Housing 

Choice Vouchers

14.870 Resident 

Opportunity and 

Supportive 

Services

17.274 YouthBuild 

Program

14.856 Lower Income 

Housing Assistance 

Program_Section 8 

Moderate 

 AMPS  BCU  FSS  MV  HCVP  ROSS  YBP  S8_MOD 

 70300    Net Tenant Rental Revenue 453,032$             4,788,437$            -$                      -$                      -$                   -$                  -$                      -$                         

 70400    Tenant Revenue - Other 51,770                 364,096                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 70500    Total Tenant Revenue 504,802               5,152,533              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 70600    HUD PHA Operating Grants -                       -                        82,595                  890,731                 1,028,441          79,704               -                        44,334                      

-                    -                        

 70800    Other Government Grants 208,404               600,000                 -                        -                        -                     -                    308,099                -                           

 71100    Investment Income - Unrestricted 1,614                   5                            -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 71500    Other Revenue 106,714               8,600,492              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 70000    Total Revenue 821,534               14,353,030            82,595                  890,731                 1,028,441          79,704               308,099                44,334                      

 91100    Administrative Salaries 314,333               516,534                 76,615                  30,629                   -                     59,462               164,440                8,544                        

 91200    Auditing Fees 12,118                 30,718                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        2,000                        

 91300    Management Fee -                       109,237                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 91400    Advertising and Marketing 2,313                   25,755                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 91500    Employee Benefit contributions - Administrative 240,276               74,270                   5,980                    -                        -                     12,698               11,968                  -                           

 91600    Office Expenses 250,288               146,558                 -                        -                        -                     -                    58,798                  -                           

 91700    Legal Expense 23,992                 12,248                   -                        -                        -                     -                    7,575                    -                           

 91800    Travel 13,010                 228                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 91900    Other 26,674                 321,194                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 91000    Total Operating - Administrative 883,004               1,236,742              82,595                  30,629                   -                     72,160               242,781                10,544                      

 92200    Relocation Costs 8,677                   -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                           

 92400    Tenant Services - Other -                       29,446                   -                        -                        -                     7,544                 -                        -                           

 92500    Total Tenant Services 8,677                   29,446                   -                        -                        -                     7,544                 -                           

 93100    Water 131,320               156,222                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 93200    Electricity 243                      23,638                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 93300    Gas 2,550                   178,099                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 93000    Total Utilities 134,113               357,959                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 94100    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations - Labor 241,262               72,721                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 94200    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations - Materials and Other 98,960                 105,979                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 94300    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations Contracts 155,244               417,327                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 94000    Total Maintenance 495,466               596,027                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           
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Project Total

6.2 Component Unit 

- Blended

14.896 PIH Family 

Self-Sufficiency 

Program

14.879 Mainstream 

Vouchers

14.871 Housing 

Choice Vouchers

14.870 Resident 

Opportunity and 

Supportive 

Services

17.274 YouthBuild 

Program

14.856 Lower Income 

Housing Assistance 

Program_Section 8 

Moderate 

Expenses (continued):

 96110    Property Insurance 14,027                 117,207                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96120    Liability Insurance 14,027                 99,687                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96130    Workmen's Compensation 14,027                 3,073                     -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96140    All Other Insurance 3,827                   -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                           

 96100    Total insurance Premiums 45,908                 219,967                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96200    Other General Expenses 60,709                 119,491                 -                        2,162                     19,875               -                    65,318                  -                           

 96210    Compensated Absences (10,664)                25,947                   -                        2,293                     -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96300    Payments in Lieu of Taxes 10,948                 31,981                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96400    Bad debt - Tenant Rents 32,175                 369,577                 -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96500    Bad debt - Mortgages -                       4                            -                        -                        -                     -                    -                           

 96600    Bad debt - Other -                       6,043                     -                        -                        -                     -                    -                           

 96000    Total Other General Expenses 93,168                 553,043                 -                        4,455                     19,875               -                    65,318                  -                           

 96710    Interest of Mortgage (or Bonds) Payable 8,737                   2,637,809              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96720    Interest on Notes Payable (Short and Long Term) -                       15,583                   -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96730    Amortization of Bond Issue Costs -                       1,275,000              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                           

 96700    Total Interest Expense and Amortization Cost 8,737                   3,928,392              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 96900    Total Operating Expenses 1,669,073            6,921,576              82,595                  35,084                   19,875               79,704               308,099                10,544                      

 97000    Excess of Operating Revenue over Operating Expenses (847,539)              7,431,454              -                        855,647                 1,008,566          -                    -                        33,790                      

 97100    Extraordinary Maintenance 38,520                 -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 97300    Housing Assistance Payments -                       -                        -                        797,597                 1,028,441          -                    -                        35,790                      

 97350    HAP Portability-In -                       -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 97400    Depreciation Expense 270,513               1,444,227              -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 90000    Total Expenses 1,978,106            8,365,803              82,595                  832,681                 1,048,316          79,704               308,099                46,334                      

 10010    Operating Transfer In 796,665               -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 10020    Operating Transfer Out -                       -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 10093    Transfers between Program and Project - In -                       -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 10094    Transfers between Project and Program - Out -                       -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 10100    Total Other financing Sources (Uses) 796,665               -                        -                        -                        -                     -                    -                        -                           

 10000    Excess of Total Revenue Over Total Expenses (359,907)              5,987,227              -                        58,050                   (19,875)              -                    -                        (2,000)                      

 11030    Beginning Net Position 1,900,887            10,744,203            -                        (4,528)                   19,875               -                    -                        16,710                      

Ending Net Position 1,540,980$          16,731,430$          -$                      53,522$                 -$                   -$                  -$                      14,710$                    
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 70300    Net Tenant Rental Revenue

 70400    Tenant Revenue - Other

 70500    Total Tenant Revenue

 70600    HUD PHA Operating Grants

 70800    Other Government Grants

 71100    Investment Income - Unrestricted

 71500    Other Revenue

 70000    Total Revenue

 91100    Administrative Salaries

 91200    Auditing Fees

 91300    Management Fee

 91400    Advertising and Marketing

 91500    Employee Benefit contributions - Administrative

 91600    Office Expenses

 91700    Legal Expense

 91800    Travel

 91900    Other

 91000    Total Operating - Administrative

 92200    Relocation Costs

 92400    Tenant Services - Other

 92500    Total Tenant Services

 93100    Water

 93200    Electricity

 93300    Gas

 93000    Total Utilities

 94100    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations - Labor

 94200    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations - Materials and Other

 94300    Ordinary Maintenance and Operations Contracts

 94000    Total Maintenance

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for 

Capital Fund

14.EFA FSS 

Escrow Forfeiture 

Account Business Activities Subtotal ELIM Total

 MTW  LIPH  HCV  CFP  EFA  BA 

-$                      -$                      -$                      -$                      -$                    -$                     5,241,469$            -$              5,241,469$            

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       415,866                 -                415,866                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       5,657,335              -                5,657,335              

-                        696,809                 5,973,669              99,856                   -                      -                       8,896,139              -                8,896,139              

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       1,116,503              -                1,116,503              

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       1,619                     -                1,619                     

6,230,289             -                        -                        -                        104,389              1,212,094             16,253,978            -                16,253,978            

6,230,289             696,809                 5,973,669              99,856                   104,389              1,212,094             31,925,574            31,925,574            

278,283                -                        -                        -                        -                      (1)                         1,448,839              -                1,448,839              

15,000                  -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       59,836                   -                59,836                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       109,237                 -                109,237                 

1,442                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       29,510                   -                29,510                   

48,539                  -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       393,731                 -                393,731                 

119,421                -                        -                        -                        -                      95,082                  670,147                 -                670,147                 

9,936                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       53,751                   -                53,751                   

9,254                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       22,492                   -                22,492                   

110,338                -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       458,206                 -                458,206                 

592,213                -                        -                        -                        -                      95,081                  3,245,749              -                3,245,749              

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       8,677                     -                8,677                     

13,831                  -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       50,821                   -                50,821                   

13,831                  -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       59,498                   -                59,498                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       287,542                 -                287,542                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       23,881                   -                23,881                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       180,649                 -                180,649                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       492,072                 -                492,072                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       313,983                 -                313,983                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       204,939                 -                204,939                 

703                       -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       573,274                 -                573,274                 

703                       -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       1,092,196              -                1,092,196              
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Expenses (continued):

 96110    Property Insurance

 96120    Liability Insurance

 96130    Workmen's Compensation

 96140    All Other Insurance

 96100    Total insurance Premiums

 96200    Other General Expenses

 96210    Compensated Absences

 96300    Payments in Lieu of Taxes

 96400    Bad debt - Tenant Rents

 96500    Bad debt - Mortgages

 96600    Bad debt - Other

 96000    Total Other General Expenses

 96710    Interest of Mortgage (or Bonds) Payable

 96720    Interest on Notes Payable (Short and Long Term)

 96730    Amortization of Bond Issue Costs

 96700    Total Interest Expense and Amortization Cost

 96900    Total Operating Expenses

 97000    Excess of Operating Revenue over Operating Expenses

 97100    Extraordinary Maintenance

 97300    Housing Assistance Payments

 97350    HAP Portability-In

 97400    Depreciation Expense

 90000    Total Expenses

 10010    Operating Transfer In

 10020    Operating Transfer Out

 10093    Transfers between Program and Project - In

 10094    Transfers between Project and Program - Out

 10100    Total Other financing Sources (Uses)

 10000    Excess of Total Revenue Over Total Expenses

 11030    Beginning Net Position

Ending Net Position

14.881 Moving to 

Work 

Demonstration 

Program

14.OPS MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for Low 

Rent

14.HCV MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for HCV 

program

14.CFP MTW 

Demonstration 

Program for 

Capital Fund

14.EFA FSS 

Escrow Forfeiture 

Account Business Activities Subtotal ELIM Total

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       131,234                 -                131,234                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       113,714                 -                113,714                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       17,100                   -                17,100                   

5,000                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       8,827                     -                8,827                     

5,000                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       270,875                 -                270,875                 

28,667                  -                        -                        -                        -                      151,699                447,921                 -                447,921                 

(2,372)                   -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       15,204                   -                15,204                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       42,929                   -                42,929                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       401,752                 -                401,752                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      41,000                  41,004                   -                41,004                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       6,043                     -                6,043                     

26,295                  -                        -                        -                        -                      192,699                954,853                 -                954,853                 

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       2,646,546              -                2,646,546              

6,516                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       22,099                   -                22,099                   

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       1,275,000              -                1,275,000              

6,516                    -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       3,943,645              -                3,943,645              

644,558                -                        -                        -                        -                      287,780                10,058,888            -                10,058,888            

5,585,731             696,809                 5,973,669              99,856                   104,389              924,314                21,866,686            -                21,866,686            

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       38,520                   -                38,520                   

5,813,161             -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       7,674,989              -                7,674,989              

5,713,386             -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       5,713,386              -                5,713,386              

15,415                  -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       1,730,155              -                1,730,155              

12,186,520            -                        -                        -                        -                      287,780                25,215,938            -                25,215,938            

5,973,669             -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       6,770,334              (6,770,334)     -                        

-                        (696,809)               (5,973,669)            (99,856)                 -                      -                       (6,770,334)             6,770,334      -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       -                        -                -                        

-                        -                        -                        -                        -                      -                       -                        -                -                        

5,973,669             (696,809)               (5,973,669)            (99,856)                 -                      -                       -                        -                -                        

17,438                  -                        -                        -                        104,389              924,314                6,709,636              -                6,709,636              

863,993                -                        -                        -                        75,645                1,863,021             15,479,806            -                15,479,806            

881,431$              -$                      -$                      -$                      180,034$             2,787,335$           22,189,442$          -$              22,189,442$          
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ASSETS:

CURRENT ASSETS:

Cash:

 111  Cash - Unrestricted $ 63,651                  $ -                  $ 63,651                

 113  Cash - Other Restricted 38,102                  -                  38,102                

 114  Cash - Tenant Security Deposits 30,327                  -                  30,327                

 100  Total Cash 132,080                -                  132,080              

 121  Accounts Receivable - PHA Projects -                        -                  -                      

 122  Accounts Receivable - HUD Other Projects -                        -                  -                      

 124  Accounts Receivable - Other Government 63,601                  -                  -                      

 125  Accounts Receivable - Miscellaneous -                        -                  -                      

 126  Accounts Receivable - Tenants 111,803                -                  111,803              

 126.1  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts -Tenants (57,190)                 -                  (57,190)               

 128  Fraud Recovery 64,559                  -                  64,559                

 128.1  Allowance for Doubtful Accounts - Fraud (64,268)                 -                  (64,268)               

 129  Accrued Interest Receivable 18,906                  -                  18,906                

 120  Total Receivables, Net of Allowances for Doubtful Accounts 137,411                -                  73,810                

 142  Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 40,472                  -                  40,472                

 144  Inter Program Due From -                        4,655              4,655                  

 150  Total Current Assets 309,963                4,655              251,017              

 161  Land 126,600                -                  126,600              

 162  Buildings 8,975,851             273,885          9,249,736           

 163  Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Dwellings 332,662                -                  332,662              

 164  Furniture, Equipment & Machinery - Administration 157,894                -                  157,894              

 165  Leasehold Improvements 241,894                -                  241,894              

 166  Accumulated Depreciation (8,681,253)           (98,055)          (8,779,308)          

 167  Construction in Progress 242,861                -                  242,861              

 160  Total Capital Assets, Net of Accumulated Depreciation 1,396,509             175,830          1,572,339           

161,103                -                  161,103              

 174  Other Assets 206,624                -                  206,624              

 180  Total Non-Current Assets 1,764,236             175,830          1,940,066           

 290  Total Assets $ 2,074,199             $ 180,485          $ 2,191,083           

 171      Notes, Loans and Mortgages Receivable - Non-Current

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES

FINANCIAL DATA SUBMISSION SUMMARY

NET POSITION ACCOUNTS - AMPs

September 30, 2024

Account Description
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LIABILITIES AND NET POSITION:

LIABILITIES:

 321  Accrued Wage/Payroll Taxes Payable $ 13,530            $ -                $ 13,530            

 322  Accrued Compensated Absences - Current Portion 2,645              -                2,645              

 341  Tenant Security Deposits 30,327            -                30,327            

 342  Unearned Revenue 40,452            -                40,452            

 343  Current Portion of Long-term Debt - Capital 33,061            -                33,061            

 346  Accrued Liabilities - Other 71,413            -                71,413            

 347  Inter Program - Due To 281,045          -                281,045          

 310  Total Current Liabilities 472,473          -                472,473          

 351  Long-term Debt, Net of Current - Capital Projects/Mortgage 179,320          -                179,320          

 353  Non-current Liabilities - Other 38,102            -                38,102            

 354  Accrued Compensated Absences - Non Current 23,809            -                23,809            

 350  Total Non-Current Liabilities 241,231          -                241,231          

 300  Total Liabilities 713,704          -                713,704          

 508.4  Net Investment in Capital Assets 1,184,128       175,830        1,359,958       

 512.4  Unrestricted Net Position 176,367          4,655            181,022          

 513  Total Equity - Net Assets / Position 1,360,495       180,485        1,540,980       

 600  Total Liabilities and Equity $ 2,074,199       $ 180,485        $ 2,254,684       

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES

FINANCIAL DATA SUBMISSION SUMMARY

NET POSITION ACCOUNTS - AMPs

September 30, 2024

Account Description
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REVENUES:

 70300  Net Tenant Rental Revenue $ 453,032                $ -                     $ 453,032                

 70400  Tenant Revenue - Other 51,770                  -                     51,770                  

 70500  Total Tenant Revenue 504,802                -                     504,802                

 70800   Other government grants 208,404                -                     208,404                

 71100  Investment income - unrestricted 1,614                    -                     1,614                    
 71500  Other revenue 106,714                -                     106,714                

TOTAL REVENUES 821,534                -                     821,534                

EXPENSES:

Administrative

 91100  Administrative Salaries 314,333                -                     314,333                

 91200  Auditing Fees 12,118                  -                     12,118                  

 91400  Advertising and Marketing 2,313                    -                     2,313                    

 91500  Employee Benefit contributions - Administrative 240,276                -                     240,276                

 91600  Office Expenses 250,288                -                     250,288                

 91700  Legal Expense 23,992                  -                     23,992                  

 91800 Travel 13,010                  -                     13,010                  

 91900  Other 26,674                  -                     26,674                  

 91000 Total Administrative Expense 883,004                -                     883,004                

Tenant services

 92200 Relocation costs 8,677                    -                     8,677                    

 92500 Total Tenant Services 8,677                    -                     8,677                    

Utilities

 93100  Water 131,320                -                     131,320                

 93200  Electricity 243                       -                     243                       

 93300  Gas 2,550                    -                     2,550                    

93000 Total Utilities Expense 134,113                -                     134,113                

Ordinary Maintenance & Operation

94100 Labor 241,262                -                     241,262                

94200 Materials 98,960                  -                     98,960                  

94300 Contracts 155,244                -                     155,244                

94000 Total Ordinary Maintenance & Operation 495,466                -                     495,466                

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES

FINANCIAL DATA SUBMISSION SUMMARY

REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION

ACCOUNTS - AMPs

Year ended September 30, 2024

Account Description
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EXPENSES (CONTINUED):

Insurance Premiums

 96110  Property Insurance 14,027                  -                     14,027                  

 96120  Liability Insurance 14,027                  -                     14,027                  

 96130  Workmen's Compensation 14,027                  -                     14,027                  

 96140 All Other Insurance 3,827                    -                     3,827                    

 96100  Total insurance Premiums 45,908                  -                     45,908                  

General Expenses

 96200  Other General Expenses 60,709                  -                     60,709                  

 96210  Compensated Absences (10,664)                 -                     (10,664)                 

 96300  Payments in lieu of taxes 10,948                  -                     10,948                  

 96400  Bad debt - tenant rents 30,829                  1,346                 32,175                  

96000 Total General Expenses 91,822                  1,346                 93,168                  

Financial Expenses

 96710  Interest expense - Mortgage Payable 8,737                    -                     8,737                    

Total Financial Expenses 8,737                    -                     8,737                    

96900 TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSE 1,667,727             1,346                 1,669,073             

97000 EXCESS OPERATING REVENUE (846,193)               (1,346)                (847,539)               

Other Expenses

 97100  Extraordinary maintenance 38,520                  -                     38,520                  

 97400  Depreciation Expense 256,819                13,694               270,513                

Total Other Expenses 295,339                13,694               309,033                

TOTAL EXPENSES 1,963,066             15,040               1,978,106             

 10010    Operating transfer in 796,665                -                     796,665                

 10093    Transfers between Program & Project - in -                        -                     -                        

 10100 Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 796,665                -                     796,665                

EXCESS OF REVENUE OVER (UNDER) EXPENSES (344,867)               (15,040)              (359,907)               

11030 Beginning Net Position 1,705,362             195,525             1,900,887             

Ending Net Position $ 1,360,495             $ 180,485             $ 1,540,980             

Account Description

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES

FINANCIAL DATA SUBMISSION SUMMARY

REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET POSITION

ACCOUNTS - AMPs

Year ended September 30, 2024
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STRENGTH IN NUMBERS

1960 Gallows Road 
Suite 340 
Vienna, VA 22182 

703‐506‐9700 

6903 Rockledge Drive 
Suite 300 
Bethesda, MD 20817 
301‐564‐3636 

rubino.com 

ASSURANCE I TAX I ADVISORYMember, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER 
FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED 

ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

Board of Commissioners  
Rockville Housing Enterprises 
Rockville, Maryland 

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards  issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial 
statements of Rockville Housing Enterprises (the Authority) as of and for the year ended 
September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively 
comprise the Rockville Housing Enterprises’ basic financial statements, and have issued our 
report thereon dated June 25, 2025. Our report includes a reference to other auditors who audited 
the financial statements of RELP One, LP, a blended component unit, as described in our report 
on the Authority’s financial statements. This report does not include the results of other auditors’ 
testing of internal control over financial reporting or compliance and other matters that are 
reported on separately by those auditors. The financial statements of the blended component 
units were not audited in accordance with Government Auditing Standards. 

Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Authority’s 
internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Authority’s internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to 
prevent, or detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable 
possibility that a material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, 
or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
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Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph 
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did 
not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. 
However, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority’s financial statements 
are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain 
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which 
could have a direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an 
opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, 
we do not express such an opinion. The results of our test disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing 
Standards. 

Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the entity’s 
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other 
purpose. 

Bethesda, Maryland 
June 25, 2025
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ASSURANCE I TAX I ADVISORYMember, American Institute of Certified Public Accountants 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR 
PROGRAM AND ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY 

THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Board of Commissioners  
Rockville Housing Enterprises 
Rockville, Maryland 

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 

Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We have audited Rockville Housing Enterprises’ (the Authority’s) compliance with the types of 
compliance requirements  identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement that 
could have a direct and material effect on each of the Authority’s major federal programs for the 
year ended September 30, 2024. The Authority’s major federal programs are identified in the 
summary of auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned 
costs.  

In our opinion, the Authority complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major 
federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2024.  

Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in 
Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States;  and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative 
Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance).  
Our responsibilities under those standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section of our report. 

We are required to be independent of the Authority and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, 
in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of 
the Authority’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
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Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Authority’s federal programs. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with 
the compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and 
express an opinion on the Authority’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing 
Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. 
The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above is considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, 
individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of 
the report on compliance about the Authority’s compliance with the requirements of each major 
federal program as a whole. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error,
and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Authority’s compliance with
the compliance requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances.

 Obtain an understanding of the Authority’s internal control over compliance relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Authority’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
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Report on Internal Control over Compliance  

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control 
over compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing 
their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal 
control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over 
compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of 
compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on 
a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control 
over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.  

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in 
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed 
to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses 
or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during 
our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we 
consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.  However, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not identified. 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of 
our testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the 
requirements of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other 
purpose.  

Bethesda, Maryland 
June 25, 2025 



Federal Grantor/Program or Cluster Title

Federal 

Assistance 

Listing 

Number

Pass-through 

Identifying 

Number

Total Federal

Expenditures

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD):

Moving to Work Demonstration Program 14.881 N/A 6,770,334$    

Housing Voucher Cluster:

Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers 14.871 N/A 1,028,441      

Mainstream Vouchers 14.879 N/A 890,731         

1,919,172      

Section 8 Project-Based Cluster:
Lower Income Housing Assistance Program - Section 8 

Moderate Rehabilitation 14.856 N/A 44,334           

Resident Opportunity and Supportive Services 14.870 N/A 79,704           

Family Self-Sufficiency Program 14.896 N/A 82,595           

Total HUD Federal Expenditures 8,896,139      

U.S. Department of the Treasury:

YouthBuild Program 17.274 N/A 308,099         

Total Department of the Treasury Federal Expenditures 308,099         

TOTAL FEDERAL EXPENDITURES 9,204,238$    

ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

Year Ended September 30, 2024

_______________
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ROCKVILLE HOUSING ENTERPRISES 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

Year ended September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 
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NOTE 1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (the Schedule) 
includes the federal award activity of Rockville Housing Enterprises (the 
Authority) under programs of the federal government for the year ended 
September 30, 2024. The information in this Schedule is presented in accordance 
with the requirements of 2 CFR Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform 
Guidance). Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of the 
operations of the Authority, it is not intended to and does not present the 
financial position, changes in net position, or cash flows of the Authority. 

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of 
accounting. Such expenditures are recognized following the cost principles 
contained in the Uniform Guidance, wherein certain types of expenditures are 
not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement.  

NOTE 3. INDIRECT COST RATE 

The Authority has elected not to use the 10-percent de minimis indirect cost rate 
as allowed under the Uniform Guidance. 
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___________________________ 
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SECTION I – SUMMARY OF AUDITOR’S RESULTS 

Financial Statements 

1. Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified 

2. Internal control over financial reporting:
a. Material Weakness(es) identified? No 
b. Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None reported 
3. Noncompliance material to financial statements

noted?
No

Federal Awards 

4. Internal control over major programs:
a. Material weakness(es) identified? No 
b. Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are not

considered to be material weakness(es)? None reported 

5. Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for
major programs: Unmodified 

6. Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with section 2 CFR
200.516(a)?

No 

7. Identification of Major Programs:

Federal Grantor/Program Title 

Federal 
Assistance 
Listing No. 

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 
(HUD): 

Moving to Work Demonstration Program 14.881          $ 6,770,334 

8. Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A
and Type B programs:          $ 750,000  

9. Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes 
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

Year ended September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 
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SECTION II – FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 

None. 

SECTION III – FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 

None. 
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SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 

Year ended September 30, 2024 
___________________________ 
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The audit for the year ended September 30, 2023, disclosed no findings. 


